

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO SCIENZE BIOMEDICHE CLINICHE E SPERIMENTALI DIPARTIMENTO DI MEDICINA TRASLAZIONALE

SCUOLA DI DOTTORATO IN PATOLOGIA E NEUROPATOLOGIA SPERIMENTALI CICLO XXIIIV

NONCODING-RNAs IN MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION: THE RELEVANCE OF THE "JUNK" RNA

Dottorando: Sukubo Naths Grazia

Matricola: R10283

Tutor: Prof. Massimo Locati

Coordinatore del dottorato: Prof. Massimo Locati

A.A. 2014-2015

Lead me where my trust is without borders Let me walk upon the waters Wherever You would call me Take me deeper than my feet could ever wander The work described in this thesis was started in November 2012 and partial completed in November 2015 under the supervision of Dr. Massimo Locati at the Research Group "Leucocytes Biology Laboratory" of the Humanitas Research Institute (ICH), Rozzano (Milano), Italy

Parts of this thesis have been awarded:

PhD Students Meeting, Milan, Italy 2015MicroRNA-135b: the pivot of the macrophage polarization balance.N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Best Oral presentation

Conference and workshop presentations: 4th European Congress of Immunology, Vienna, Austria 2015 MicroRNA-135b: the pivot of the macrophage polarization balance. **N.G. Sukubo**, M. Pesant, M. Locati **Oral presentation**

PhD Students Meeting, Milan, Italy 2015

MicroRNA-135b: the pivot of the macrophage polarization balance.

N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Oral presentation

9th World Immune Regulation Meeting, Davos, Switzerland 2015.
MicroRNA-135b at the crossroad of macrophage polarized activation.
N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Poster presentation

SIICA conference, Florence, Italy 2014

MicroRNA-135b at the crossroad of macrophage polarized activation.

N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Oral communication.

International Graduate Student Immunology Congress, Marseille, France, 2013.

Role of microRNAs in macrophages polarization.

N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Oral communication.

15th International Congress of Immunology, Milan, Italy 2013Contribution of microRNAs to human macrophage polarization processes.M. Pesant, N.G. Sukubo, M. Locati Poster presentation.

EMBO Practical Course, Heidelberg, Germany 2013.

Role of microRNAs in macrophages polarization.

N.G. Sukubo, M. Pesant, M. Locati Oral communication

Table of contents

Overview	VIII
Chapter: MicroRNA-135b: the pivot of the macrophage polarization balance	10
List of figures	11
INTRODUCTION	12
Macrophage activation and polarization process	12
Regulation of macrophage activation and polarization	13
AIM OF THE STUDY	24
RESULTS	25
miRNome analysis in steady state and activated macrophages	25
miR-135b do not activate steady state macrophages	27
Overexpression of miR-135b enhances the expression of M1 chemokines	28
Gene network of miR-135b	30
MiR-135b inhibits c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein in human alternative macrophages	31
miR-135b in macrophage plasticity	33
Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers	34
IL-10 inhibits miR-135b expression in response to LPS	36
Endogenous IL-10 inhibits mature miR-135b in primary BMDM	38
miR-135b is highly express in murine classical activated macrophages	39
miR-135b damps the alternative activated macrophage polarization	40
DISCUSSION	42
MATERIALS AND METHODS	44
REFERENCES	50
Chapter: The "junk" RNA controlled by glucocorticoids: miR-135b and its host gene	
BLACAT1	56
List of figures	57
INTRODUCTION	58
Epigenetics	58
Chromatin conformation in M1 macrophage activation	58
Chromatin conformation in M2 macrophage activation	60
The Junk RNA and the immunity system	61

MicroRNAs61
LncRNAs
AIM OF THE STUDY
RESULTS
hsa-miR-135b is transcribed from within the intronic sequence of a long non-coding RNA, BLACAT1
miR-135b TSS identification71
Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus upon LPS treatment
Correlation between host gene BLACAT1 and miR-135b in activated macrophages. 76
miR-135b is inhibited by glucocorticoids77
IncRNA BLACAT1 blocks miR-135b in DEX-activated macrophages
Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon DEX treatment
Glucocorticoids inhibit miR-135b processing through MCPIP1
BLACAT1 role in resolving macrophages
DISCUSSION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
REFERENCES
Chapter: MicroRNA-135b in gouty arthritis
List of figures
INTRODUCTION
Gout pathogenesis
Inflammasome
Interleukine-1β pathway99
miRNAs and gout
AIM OF THE STUDY 102
RESULTS 103
miRNome expression in the in vivo MSU-crystal model
MSU crystals induce miR-135b expression in BMDM 105
miRNA-135b expression is regulated by IL-1R1 during Gout arthritis (in vitro) 107
miR-135b putative regulates IL-1R signaling pathway108
Enhancer expression of miR-135b inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-inflammation 111
DISCUSSION

MATERIALS AND METHODS	
REFERENCES	
CONCLUSIONS	
Acknowledgements	

Overview

The work presented in this thesis is concerned with the function of the noncoding RNAs in macrophage polarization, a biological process thinly regulated. For this reason noncoding RNAs are becoming more and more relevant. Several studies have explored this issue, identifying some microRNAs (small noncoding RNAs) involved in the inflammatory response and macrophage activation. Macrophages are the key cell in innate immunity system that are essential in on set and resolve inflammation. Moreover macrophages sustain tissue integrity during development such as, bone morphogenesis, and adipose tissue generation after damage. They perform these function due to their responsiveness to the surrounding microenvironment. On the base of the different stimuli macrophage may undergo to different polarity, changing in turn the run of the inflammation. Understanding the mechanism underline macrophage plasticity and macrophage re-programming is the aim of this study.

To better elucidate the aim of this work, the thesis has been dived in three macro chapters. Chapter 1 is focused on the characterization of specific miRNA patens in human macrophages, activated *in vitro* towards of a classic (M1) or alternative (M2) phenotype. From the screening is emerged a de novo expressed microRNA, miR-135b in classic activated macrophage, which is able to damp M2 phenotype in favor of the M1 thru the direct targeting of important M2 transcription factors, c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4.

Chapter 2 emphasizes the role of miR-135b in macrophage activation, analyzing its chromatin occupancy upon TRL triggered. From this investigation has been highlighted the presence of an lncRNA, BLACAT1, miR-135b's host gene. Surprising the induction of these RNAs is not correlated; on the contrary BLACAT1 is induced by anti-inflammatory stimulation. These results glimpse a further step of regulation promoted by lncRNAs

Chapter 3 highlights the role of miRNAs in the gouty arthritis, a pathology characterized by the accumulation on the joint of MSU crystals. Innate immunity cells and in particular macrophage are mainly involved in its progression. Using this paradigm we typified the miRNome on *in vivo* setting. Out the miRNAs modulated with the progression of gout, we identified miR-135b. We have demonstrated that in BMDMs miR-135b is IL- 1R1dependent, capable of inhibits the same pathway by the direct target with MyD88, IL-1RAP, and IL-.1R.

Chapter: MicroRNA-135b: the pivot of the macrophage polarization balance.

List of figures

Figure 1. 1 Key properties and functions of polarized macrophages
Figure 1. 2 Macrophage transcription network
Figure 1. 3 The miRNA processing pathway 19
Figure 1. 4 Differentially expressed microRNAs
Figure 1. 5 miR-135b in macrophage polarization and re-polarization process
Figure 1. 6 miR-135b is not able to activate steady state macrophagesErrore. Il segnalibro
non è definito.
Figure 1. 7 Overexpression of miR-135b inhibits the M2 phenotype
Figure 1.8 Overexpression of miR-135b enhancer the expression of M1 chemokines
Frrore Il segnalibro non è definito
Enore in segmentor non e derinito.
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers.35Figure 1. 10 miR-135b targets IL-4 pathway.31Figure 1. 11 MiR-135b inhibits c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein in M2 macrophages 32Figure 1. 12 MiR-135b damps M2 polarized phenotype.33Figure 1. 13 IL-10 inhibits miR-135b expression in response to TLR4 stimulation.36Figure 1. 14 IL-10 inhibits the transcription of miR-135b.38
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers.35Figure 1. 10 miR-135b targets IL-4 pathway.31Figure 1. 11 MiR-135b inhibits c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein in M2 macrophages 32Figure 1. 12 MiR-135b damps M2 polarized phenotype.33Figure 1. 13 IL-10 inhibits miR-135b expression in response to TLR4 stimulation.36Figure 1. 14 IL-10 inhibits the transcription of miR-135b.38Figure 1. 15 Murine classic activated macrophage highly express mmu-miR-135b.39
Figure 1. 9 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers

INTRODUCTION

Macrophage activation and polarization process

Macrophage activation and polarization

Macrophages are monocyte-derived myeloid cells able to acquire distinct functional phenotypes depending on the microenvironment. They play an essential role in the immunity system, sustaining tissue integrity during development such as, bone morphogenesis, and adipose tissue generation and after damage. Moreover, they are fundamental players in onset and resolve the inflammation, interacting with lymphocytes T and B. It is also clear that macrophages are involved in many chronic diseases such as atherosclerosis, asthma, rheumatoid arthritis. In these pathologies, they could be seen as an important source of inflammatory cytokines (IL12, IL18, IL23, and TNF α ¹) that driven autoimmune inflammation.

The macrophage polarization is a concept introduced by Stein and colleagues in 1992, after the observation that macrophages exposed to IL-4 promote an alternative activation with a different phenotype from the classic one ². Afterwards, Mantovani and colleagues have schematically categorized macrophages in "classical" (M1) activated, which are triggered with microbial stimuli (e.g. LPS) alone or together with the TLR eliciting; and "alternative" (M2) cell types that are activated by IL-4/IL-13 ³ (Figure 1. 1). Thus, the M1-M2 nomenclature is derived from the Th1 and Th2 cytokines associated with these macrophage phenotypes, however the activation state is more broadly. Nowadays has been highlighted that "M2-like" phenotype is endorsed by various stimuli such as, glucocorticoids, IL-10, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) and immunoglobulin complex ⁴.



Figure 1. 1 Key properties and functions of polarized macrophages.

Functionally M1 are characterized by the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL1 β , IL6, IL12, IL23 and TNF) and effector molecules such as reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI) and reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI) which guide the Th1 responses, and have tumoricidal capacity. Thus, the classical activation could be seen as the first line of defense against intracellular pathogens. While, M2 macrophages are associated to Th2 responses, they produce immune regulatory factors (e.g. IL10 and TGF β 1) that dampen the immune response. In addition, M2 cells ensure pro-tumoural effects, through the production of tumor growth factor, (e.g. EGF, FGF1, TGF β 1), they promote angiogenesis and matrix remodeling (e.g. VEGFA, FGF1 and MMPs) ⁵.

Regulation of macrophage activation and polarization

Macrophage dichotomy, M1 and M2, is useful representation that denotes the cell plasticity. It is extensively demonstrate that macrophages switch their phenotype and

physiology in response to environmental insults, in a process named re-programming ⁶. It was highlighted with i*n vitro* experiments, LPS-activated macrophages become hyporesponsive to a second inflammatory hit ⁷. This phenomenon, called endotoxin tolerance, cause the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β , the gene expression switching from a pro-inflammatory M1 signature to an M2-like anti-inflammatory phenotype ⁷.

In angiogenesis (a fundamental process that occurs in physiological wound healing and tumor progression), macrophages are recruited to wound or tumor site release angiogenic cytokines and promote the vascular supply. Stress factors produced by hypoxia and altered metabolism stimulate macrophages to switch from an inflammatory to a resolving phenotype. Especially in cancer a high number of macrophages contributes to the ongoing growth, neovascularization, and metastasis of malignant cells ⁸. It is clear the cell plasticity is an important phenomenon. The macrophage skewing is a process that ensues *in vivo* under physiological (e.g. ontogenesis and pregnancy) and in pathological conditions (infection, cancer and allergy) ⁵ and is thinly regulated at transcriptional and post-transcriptional level.

Transcriptional regulation

M1 signaling network

A signaling network underlies the different macrophage phonotypes; however, IRF/STAT signaling is the core pathway in macrophage polarization. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and other microbial ligands lead to the activation of TRL4 pathway through two adaptors, MyD88 and TRIF ⁹. The signaling through TRIF adaptor activates IFN regulatory factor 1 and 3 (IRF1 and IRF3), promotes expression and emission of type 1 interferon, (IFN α and IFN β). The released type 1 interferons leads to phosphorylation of STAT1 (signal transducers and activators of transcription 1), supports the expression of inflammatory chemokines such as CCL5, CXCL9 and CXCL10. In addition, STAT1 is activated by IFN- γ (member of the type II interferon) through JAK 1 and 2, and leads to the expression of chemokines, adhesion molecules (ICAM-1) and transcription factors (IRF1 and IRF8) that

mediate the second wave of IFN-γ signaling, leading to CCL5 secretion ^{10,11}. On the other hand, the signaling pathway downstream TRL4 mediated by MyD88 adaptor guides the activation of NF- κ B (nuclear factor kappa B). NF- κ B/Rel family is a transcription factor described for the first time Sen and Baltimore in 1986 as a nuclear factor essential for the transcription of immunoglobulin kappa light chain in B cells ¹². The NF- κ B family is composed by five members in mammal: p50, p65 (RelA), c-Rel, p52, and RelB. They are present in homo- and hetero-dimeric complexes, which are often maintained in an inactive in cytosol thru I- κ B proteins (inhibitor of kappa B kinase) ¹³. When I- κ Bs are degraded, NF- κ B is released and translocate to the nucleus, where promotes the synthesis of a large number of inflammatory genes, TNF α , IL1B, cyclooxygenase 2, IL-6, and IL12p40 ^{14,15}. The NF- κ B signaling pathway is also activated by IL-1 β .

M2 signaling network

M2 macrophages are activated by IL-4 produced by the Th2 cells, but also by the macrophages themselves ¹⁶. This interleukin is recognized by IL-4R α 1 receptor paired with common gamma chain (γ c), leads to STAT6 activation and translocation via JAK 1/3. In addition, this signaling pathway modulates the activation of the transcription factor PPAR γ (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ), that cause the inhibition of M1 response by blocking NF-KB and AP-1 ¹⁷. PPARy regulates the metabolism of fatty acid, promots the aerobic respiration that occurs in the alternative activated macrophages ¹⁸. Moreover, STAT6 works in synergy with Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) and sustains M2 gene expression, inhibiting thus the M1 one. KLF4 is a member of zinc finger DNAbinding transcriptional regulators subfamily (KLFs), which plays important roles in several cell processes, including hematopoiesis. Indeed, KLF4 is a critical regulator of macrophage polarization, mediating the sequestration of NF-kB co-activator such as p300/CBP and associated factors like PCAF. These findings were confirmed by myeloidspecific KLF4-deficient macrophages which shown increased pro-inflammatory gene expression ¹⁹. Another significant transcription factor induced in human alternative activated macrophages is c-MYC, it is a pleiotropic transcription factor with an oncogenic potential involved in frequent processes in non-transformed cells, including lymphocytes, promots cell growth and survival 20. Oscar M. Pello and colleagues have identified a restrict list of c-MYC-dependent genes in M2 cells. In particular, they assessed a direct cMYC interaction with the promoter of ALOX15, MRC1 and SCARB1; and supports also STAT6 and PPAR γ^{21} .

Alternative macrophages are also activated by TGFβ, which is anti-inflammatory cytokines with pleiotropic effects involved in development, carcinogenesis, fibrosis, wound healing and immune responses ²². TGFβ signaling pathway occurs mainly through phosphorylation of the SMAD proteins. They are composed by 3 functional classes: the receptor-regulated Smad (RSmad); the Co-mediator Smad (Co-Smad); and the inhibitory Smad (I-Smad). The RSmads when phosphorylated form hetero complexes with the Co-Smads. The complex translocates into the nucleus and regulates target genes transcription, such as ARG1 and MGL2 ²³. This complex is antagonized by the inhibitory Smad that compets with R-Smads for receptor or Co-Smad interaction ²⁴. However, TGFβ reprograms macrophages to M1 phenotype, particularly when the SMAD-dependent pathway is blocked. Indeed TGF-β could activate kinase 1 protein (TAK1), which in turn activates JNK, p38, and NF- κ B ²⁵.

Interleukin-10 is anti-inflammatory cytokine that activates M2 macrophages. Its induction is caused by TLRs activation in particular TLR9 and TLR4 in macrophages and dendritic cells ²⁶. IL-10 is a soluble ligand that binds to a receptor complex composed by IL-10R1 subunit, which is restricted to leukocytes (IL-10R α in mice) and a signaling subunit ,IL-10R2 (IL-10Rβ in mice), which leads to STAT1 and STAT3 activation via Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/STAT) pathway 27. This interleukin inhibits pro-inflammatory responses caused by innate and adaptive immunity, and prevents tissues damaged in case of impaired immune responses . Therefore, IL-10/JAK1/STAT3 axis is an essential homeostatic mechanism that controls the degree and duration of inflammation. Indeed all the major TLR signaling pathways (such as those involving NF-kB, and PI-3K) are targeted by IL-10. For example, TNFa expression is abolish by IL-10 through the up-regulation of Bcl3 (via STAT3), which interacts with NF- κ B at the TNF α promoter, inhibiting its ^{28,29}. Macrophages are considered as the most IL-10 responsive cell in the immune system since they express a high level of IL-10R1. In activated macrophages, IL-10 represses the production of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, TNFa) ³⁰, chemokines (i.e. monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1) ³¹, and the production of nitric oxide ³². Overall, the IL-10

anti-inflammatory effect in macrophages involves ~20% of the LPS-induced genes, including pro-inflammatory mediators such as cell surface receptors, chemokines and cytokines ³³. Due to its relevance in damping the inflammation IL-10 deficiencies are associated with inflammatory diseases. For example, both IL-10 and IL-10R KO mice developed colitis spontaneously and mutations in the IL-10 and IL-10R genes correlate with susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in human ³⁴⁻³⁶. It was also reported that IL-10 inhibits allograft rejection after organ transplantation ³⁷. These studies highlight the importance of IL-10 in negatively regulating inflammation and autoimmune diseases. On the other hand, increased IL-10 expression has been associated with many chronic bacterial and viral infections. IL-10 represents an important mechanism of immune escape by different pathogens (for instance, the viral IL-10; vIL-10) to suppress the immune responses of the host ³⁸. Obviously, the IL-10 production control can be used as a therapeutic approach for the treatment of different kinds of infections.

Conclusions on transcriptional regulation

The highlighted transcriptional network stresses that the microenvironment (e.g. growth factors, fatty acids and bacteria) is extremely essential to determine macrophage phenotypes. The activation and macrophage re-polarization are ascribed to 4 phenomena: (1) macrophage are activated and their response is amplified; (2) suppression of the alternate phenotype; (3) the re-polarization process is activated; (4) feedback phenomenon ³⁹. However, the signaling pathway (schematically represented in Figure 1. 2) works on and in synergy with post-transcriptional regulation.



Figure 1. 2 Macrophage transcription network. M1 stimuli trough the TLR4, IFN- α , or IFN- β receptor (IFNAR) and IFN- γ receptor (IFNGR) pathways, promotes NF- κ B (p65 and p50), AP-1, IRF3 and STAT1 transcription factors. This leads to the transcription of M1 genes. While M2 stimuli such as IL-4 and IL-13 signal activate STAT6. IL-10R signaling pathway activates STAT3. (Figure adapted from Sica and Mantovani, 2012.

Post-transcriptional regulation: microRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small single-stranded RNAs of 20-24 nucleotides highly conserved among species. They modulate gene expression by the fasten to complementary 3'UTR region of the target mRNA, causing mRNA decay or translation inhibition ⁴⁰. Since the first discovered miRNA (lin-4) in Caenorhabditis elegans ⁴¹, additional miRNAs have been identified in exponential way across species, more than 700 miRNAs mammalian cells (miRNA have in registry at http://microrna.sanger.ac.uk/sequences). They play critical roles in development such as cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, and their dysregulation causes disease, such as cancer. miRNAs are encoded by genes in primary hairpin RNA transcripts (primiRNAs) by RNA polymerase II. This transcript is processed by the protein complex composed by ribonuclease III-type Drosha and its double strand RNA-binding protein DGCR8 (DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8). The obtained pre-miRNAs are actively transported to the cytoplasm by exportin-5, and further processed by Dicer (cytosolic ribonuclease III) in a 22 nt double-stranded miRNA. One strand (the guide strand) is selectively incorporated into the miRNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). The mature miRNA in the RISC interacts with Argonaute (Ago) proteins, and the 3' UTR (3' untranslated region) of the target messenger RNAs (mRNAs). The resultant outcome of miRNA- mRNA interaction inside the RISC complex is the translational inhibition, degradation or deadenylation of the target messenger RNAs (Figure 1. 3) ⁴².



Figure 1. 3 The miRNA processing pathway includes the synthesis of the primary transcript (primiRNA) by RNA polymerase and its cleavage by the microprocessor complex Drosha/DGCR8 in the nucleus. The pre-miRNA is exported into the cytosol Exportin-5-Ran-GTP. In the cytoplasm, the Dicer complex cleaves the pre-miRNA into a microRNA duplex. The functional strand of the mature miRNA (red) is loaded with Argonaute (Ago2) proteins into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), where it guides RISC to silence target mRNAs through mRNA cleavage, translational repression or deadenylation. Figure from Winter et al., 2009.

microRNAs in the innate immune system

Chen and colleagues pointed out in 2004 the first evidence that miRNAs regulate the immune response with a report which showed selective expression of miR-142a, miR-181a and miR-223 in immune cells ⁴³. Understanding miRNA profiles is an essential step towards unraveling miRNAs function in macrophage polarization. Different studies tried to evaluate this issue however is emerged an uneven landscape due to species specific and the use of different protocols of macrophage polarization. TLRs signaling and miRNAs regulation in monocytes and macrophages are capable of actuating manifold targeting strategies which modulate expression of key factors in pro- and anti-inflammatory processes ⁴⁴. Some miRNAs are associated with M1 cells (miR-155, miR-21, miR-125, miR-9, and miR-146) and are transcribed *via* TLR, whereas some M2 stimuli (glucocorticoids, IL-4, and IL-10) induce the synthesis of miR-511, miR-187 and miR-378 ⁴⁵.

We discuss more in detail the principal miRNAs involved in this process .

microRNA-155

The first miRNA and most investigated as a pro-inflammatory miRNA is miR-155, which is strongly induced by LPS or Type I interferons in both monocytes and macrophages ⁴⁶. miR-155 supports M1 phenotype repressing the negative regulators of pro-inflammatory response, such as SOCS1 establishing an antiviral and antibacterial response ^{47,48}, and BCL6 being involved in atherosclerosis ^{49,51}. It is well-established that miR-155 sustains TNF- α stability upon LPS stimulation, playing pro-inflammatory function ⁵². Moreover, miR-155 is known to suppress M2 phenotype, inhibiting important hallmarks such as C/EBP β , which controls Arg1, Chi3I3 and the production of IL-10 ⁵³. The same IL-10 down-regulates miR-155 *via* STAT3 improving the miR-155 target SHIP1 ^{54,55}.miR-155 is self-regulating thru the targeting of AP-1, transcription factor entails in miR-155 transcription. This miRNA shifts the M2 phenotype of TAM (tumor associated macrophages) towards the M1 phenotype and, thereby, enhances the anti-tumoural properties ⁵³. However, miR-155 is not a mere pro-inflammatory miRNAs, indeed Tang and collogue identified Myd88 as miR-155 target in *H. pylori*-induce inflammation ⁵⁶.

microRNA-146 family

miR-146 family is composed by miR-146a and miR-146b. miR-146a is an interesting microRNA involved in the innate immunity system, induced by LPS, TNF- α and IL-1 β in a NF- κ B-dependent manner. Moreover, miR-146a is able to negative regulate TLR signaling by direct targeting of IRAK-1 and TRAF6 ⁵⁷, being essential in endotoxin tolerance, thus its insufficient induction could lead to a prolonged inflammatory response ⁵⁸. miR-146a has been shown to be up-regulated in various inflammatory outcomes such rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and gout ^{38,59}. Recent evidences have that miR-146a gene single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are associated with severe sepsis and other pathologies ^{60,61}. In addition, our lab identified miR-146b as an IL-10-dependent miRNA with anti-inflammatory activity by direct target of TRL4, Myd88, IRAK-1 and TRAF6 ⁶².

miR-125 family

miR-125 family includes miR-125a and miR-125b, which share the same "seed" sequence are induced by TLR signaling. Both miRNAs sustain inflammation by targeting the NF- κ B negative regulator, TNF α Induced Protein 3 (TNFAIP3, A20), and by IRF4 ^{63,64}. At the same time miR-125a and miR-125b compromised TNF- α production and transcript stability ⁶⁵.

miR-511-3p

miR-511-3p is an intronic miRNA of CD206/MRC1(mannose receptor) gene. Highly expressed in M2 and TAM macrophages being co-regulated with the host gene. However it targets Rock2 and IRF4 important transcription factor that activates M2 phenotype ^{66,67}. miR-511-3p is bona fide M2-associated miRNA capable to modulate different M2 activities, such as cellular proliferation, metabolism and immune responses ⁶⁸.

Let-7 family

The let-7 is composed by 12 genes, which encode for 9 miRNAs (let-7a to let-7i, miR-98).

Let-7c has been shown to be induced in M-BMM, being critical in the regulation of macrophage polarization thru direct target of C/EBP δ ⁶⁹. Another family member, let-7f is up-regulated upon LPS stimulation in murine macrophages. It promotes the production of cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β by direct target of A20, a feedback inhibitor of the NF- κ B pathway ⁷⁰.

miR-9, miR-147

Macrophage inflammatory response to infection involves the up-regulation of additional miRNAs, such as, miR-9 and miR-147^{71,72}. These miRNAs can also be induced by TLR signaling, and can negatively regulate activation of inflammatory pathways in myeloid cells. MiR-9 represses NFKB1⁶⁸. While miR-147 has been shown to attenuate TLR2, TLR3 and TLR4-mediated production of inflammatory proteins such as TNF- α and IL-6⁷².

Conclusions of post-transcriptional regulation

In general, the intracellular network of miRNAs is comparable to the phenomena ascribed to signaling pathway known to be involved in macrophage polarization (Table 1. 1). More in specific way miRNAs can be classified on the base of their activation in M1 or M2 associated, such as miR-155 and miR-146b respectively. However they may provide positive feedback to sustain the macrophage phenotype (e.g. miR-155, miR-187), or negative feedback to limit excessive response (e.g. miR-146a, miR-511), inflammation for M1 or anti-tumoural in case of the M2 phenotype.

miRNA	Function	Targets
miR-155 ^{27,47,73}	Promotes M1 phenotype; Inhibits M2 phenotype	SOCS1, SHIP1, BCL6, C/EBPβ, IL-13Rα1, FADD, IKKε, Ripk1, MyD88, AP-1
miR-146a ⁷⁴ , ⁷⁵	Promotes endotoxin tolerance; Inhibits M1 phenotype	TRAF6, IRAK1, IL-8, RANTES
miR-146b ⁷⁴	Inhibits M1 phenotype	TRAF6, IRAK1
miR-9 71	Suppresses M1 activity	NF-ĸB1
miR-125a 63,64	Promotes M1 phenotype; Inhibits M2 phenotype	KLF13, A20, IRF4
miR-125b ²⁶	interfere with M2 activation	IRF4
miR-511-3p ^{66,67}	negative regulators of the macrophage M2 response.	Rock2, IRF4
let-7c ^{69,70}	Inhibits M1 phenotype	РАК1, С/ЕВРб, А20
miR-187 ⁷⁶	Sustains the inhibitory effect of IL-10	TNF-α, NFKBIZ
miR-378	inhibitor of the M2 responses	

Table 1. 1: miRNAs regulate in macrophage polarization

AIM OF THE STUDY

Macrophages are critical effectors of onset and resolve the inflammation. Together with dendrite cells macrophages function as antigen-presenting cells (APC), on the other hand they eliminate microbes and tumor cells. They also contribute to tissue repair and remodeling, angiogenesis and so on. They fulfill these functions according to microenvironment stimuli thru the adoption of different spectrum of activation. M1, or classical activated macrophages respond to LPS and IFN- γ , whereas M2, or alternative activation, occurs in response to the cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. This cell plasticity is the key of macrophage efficacy of immune defense. Although, instabilities in macrophage plasticity might compromise immune responses and contribute to different diseases, such as cancer, arthritis and atherosclerosis. Therefore, a profound understanding of regulatory mechanisms undergo macrophage plasticity is critical.

Recently has been demonstrated that post- transcriptional regulation is important in the inflammatory response. The wells know protagonists of this regulation are microRNAs (miRNAs). Some evidences have liked miRNAs to the macrophage activation, sustain one phenotype against the others. The first aim of this work to typify the miRNome of human polarized macrophages to define its contribution on macrophage re-programing process from M1 to M2 phenotype.

Anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 that is crucial for damping inflammation induced by Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling. The second aim of this study was to examine whether IL-10 plays a role in miRNA functions.

RESULTS

miRNome analysis in steady state and activated macrophages.

TLDA TaqMan arrays were used in an attempt to identify miRNA profile on activated macrophages, which might play a role on macrophage polarization. Human monocytederived macrophages obtained from three healthy donor buffy coats were cultured for 24h in presence of LPS+IFN- γ (M1) or in IL-4 (M2). The induced expression of M1 and M2 markers was observed to confirm the polarization (data no shown) and 733 miRNAs were profiled. We detected 388 expressed miRNAs in macrophage population. Moreover unsupervised clustering of the miRNA-profiling data revealed distinctive miRNA signatures. The alternative activation (M2) shown an expression pattern extremely similar to the resting macrophages (Figure 1.4A). According with this outcome, 69 miRNAs were differentially expressed among the M1 and M2 phenotypes (Figure 1. 4B). Additionally, 10 miRNAs are highly expressed in classic activated cells, including miR-155 and miR-146b (known as pro-inflammatory miRNAs 46,72). Furthermore, a limited number of miRNAs were de novo expressed in activated macrophages, including miR-135b by LPS+IFN- γ treatment. In agreement with microarray data, in individual miRNA-targeted qPCR assays, miR-135b was induced only by LPS alone or in combination with IFN-γ (Figure 1. 4 C), and displayed delayed kinetics in comparison with has-miR-155 (Figure 1. 4 D), picked at 24h. These data indicated miR-135b as a novel miRNA associated with the classic activated macrophages, which might sustain this phenotype.



Figure 1. 4 Differentially expressed microRNAs. A, Microarray analysis was conducted on 3 independent preparations of resting macrophages (M0) and macrophages exposed to 100 ng/ml LPS and 20 ng/ml IFN-y (M1) and to 20 ng/mL of IL-4 (M2) for 24 hours. Cluster analysis of the miRNAs expression (2-DCT) in different macrophage subsets. Red line and green lines shown the expression patterns of up regulated and down regulated miRNAs respectively. B, Volcano plot shown a predominant up-regulated miRNAs in M1 macrophages against M2. The x axis shown the difference in relative expression values (log₂ expression values); the y axis represented statistical significance (-log10 p-values). Vertical dotted lines represented the threshold for the log2 fold change (equivalent to a 2 fold change). The red dots corresponded to miRNAs with a significant expression that were up-regulated in M1 macrophages. The blue dots were miRNAs significantly down-regulated in M1 compare with M2 macrophages. C, human macrophages were cultured for 24h with 100 ng/ml IL-1β, 20 ng/ml IL-6, 1 μg/ml Pam3CSK4, 20 ng/ml TNFα, 100 ng/ml LPS, 20 ng/ml IFN- γ , 50 ng/ml TGF- β , 50 ng/ml IL-10, 10-6 M dexamethasone (DEX) and 20ng/ml IL-4. RNA was extracted and mature miR-135b ware analyzed by qPCR. n =3; mean ± SEM. D, kinetic analysis of miR-155, miR-146a and miR-135b in human macrophage stimulated with LPS (100ng/ml) for 2, 6 and 24h. Data were expressed as mean ± SEM of expression fold change compared to resting untreated macrophages (M0) of 3 independent experiments. Statistics has been calculated using Bonferroni's multiple test *p<0.05, ****p < 0.0001 compared with resting macrophages.

miR-135b do not activate steady state macrophages

To understand if miR-135b might trigger *per se* macrophages, we transfected resting *in vitro* generated monocyte-derived macrophages (which hypo-expressed miR-135b), with a synthetic microRNA (mimics) for miR-135b and control for 24 h; expression levels of marker genes of macrophage activation were measured by qPCR As shown in **Errore. L'origine riferimento non è stata trovata.**, miR-135b had no modulatory effect, was not able to activate the resting macrophages even though there was a trend of induction forM1 markers (CCL5 and COX2) however results did not reach statistical significance.



Figure 1. 5 miR-135b is not able to activate steady state macrophages. Resting human macrophages were transfected with 20 nM control mimics or mimics for miR-135b. 24h after transfection, mRNA levels of M2 marker genes (**A-F**) and M1 (**G**,**H**) were determined by real-time PCR. Data are expressed as fold change n=5; mean ±SEM.

Overexpression of miR-135b enhances the expression of M1 chemokines

To further explore miR-135b influence on activated macrophages we transfected M2 macrophages with control mimics (scr) or miR-135b mimic and after 24h inflammatory chemokines were evaluated by qPCR and ELISA (Figure 1. 6). Enhancer levels of miR-135b increased CCL5, CXCL10 and IL-12p40 secretion levels, compared with control mimics; however they were not comparable to what is produced by M1 macrophages. Thus miR-135b has a moderate effect on the promotion of the M1 phenotypes, but is not able *per se* to divert the M2 phenotype towards M1.



Figure 1. 6 Overexpression of miR-135b enhancer the expression of M1 chemokines. Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or miR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with IL-4 for 24h. Levels of CCL5 (**A**), CXCL10 (**B**) and IL-12p40 (**C**) were determined. n=3; mean ± SEM; ** p<0.01 compare to control (scr). Chemokines secretion were determined in each samples for CCL5 (**D**), CXCL10 (**E**) and IL-12p40 (**F**) by E.L.I.S.A. n=4; mean ± SEM; * p<0.05 compared to control (scr).

On the other hand, M2 marker genes were inhibited by enhancer miR-135b expression (Figure 1. 7 A-F). miR-135b impaired macrophage functionality, thru the inhibition of M2 chemokines CCL17, CCL18 and CCL22, which were reduced as well as in M1 macrophages (Figure 1. 7 H-I). These data confirm that miR-135b damps the alternative phenotype, favoring the pro-inflammatory or classic one.





scramble. M2 chemokines secretion were measured with ELISA (**G-I**). Data are express as n=6; mean± SEM; *p<0.05, ** p<0.01 compared to M0 transfected with scramble.

Gene network of miR-135b

To explore genes and signaling pathways evolved by miR-135b in the macrophage polarization we used an *in silico* approach. We obtained a list of putative target genes with TargetScan (version 4.2, www.targetsacn.org) and miRanda (www.microrna.org) that were integrated with the gene expression datasets produced in our laboratory 77 from M1 and M2 macrophages. The outcome of these analyses was a list of anti-correlated genes (ACT), meaning genes shown up-regulated when targeted miRNAs were down-regulated and conversely. miR-135b ACTs were compared with miR-155 and miR-146a ACT genes to defined restricted gene network ascribable exclusively to miR-135b. The Venn diagram illustrated (Figure 1.8 A) that the three microRNAs shared 110 ACT genes, the 258 ACT genes specific to miR-135b were further analyzed with Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA). This analysis (Figure 1.8 B) revealed a significant enrichment for IL-4 pathway signal, which was not shared with miR-155 and miR-146a. These findings support the previous observation that c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 are modulated by the overexpression miR-135b as highlighted in Figure 1. 7. The three transcription factors shown a highly targeting score for miR-135b (Figure 1. 8 C-E) identified by Miranda. We validated these interactions performing luciferase reporter assay. HEK293-T cells ware cotransfected with entire 3'UTR vector of c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 and with control or miR-135b mimics. As shown in Figure 1.8 luciferase activity of the reporter 3' UTR of c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 were down regulated by miR-135b. This activity was completely restored when the seed sequence was mutated (Figure 1. 8 F-H). We conclude that miR-135b damps M2 phenotype thru the direct target of c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 the major transcription factor of IL-4.



Figure 1. 8 miR-135b targets IL-4 pathway. A, targeting interaction among LPS-induced miRNAs, represented in Venn diagram. miR-135b, miR-155 and miR-146a targets were predicted with TARGETSCAN, Miranda predictions. About 10% of mRNAs are shared by the 3 two miRNAs. **B**, **C**, IPA analysis of 258 miR-135b anti-correlated target, highlights enrichment in IL-4 signal pathway. This pathway is not shared by the other miRNAs, miR-155 and miR-14a. **D-E**, miR-135b targets IL-4 signaling thru a putative binding with c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4, with high score of affinity binding identified with Miranda. **G-I**, Human 293T cells were transiently co-transfected with indicated 3'-UTR luciferase construct of c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 and with miR-135b mimic or a negative control mimic (scr). Results are expressed as normalized relative luciferase units (RLU). n=4; mean ± SEM. **p < 0.001 compared with control.

MiR-135b inhibits c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein in human alternative macrophages

To better delineate whether miR-135b/ c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 interaction occurs in human macrophages, we transfected resting cells with control or miR-135b mimic and analyzed protein levels after IL-4 treatment. As shown in Figure 1. 9, miR-135b inhibited c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein, which clearly impacted on the signaling cascade.



Figure 1. 9 MiR-135b inhibits c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 protein in M2 macrophages. Macrophages were transfected with 20 nM control mimics (scr) or mimics miR-135b. After the transfection the cells were treated with 20 ng/ml IL-4, cells were lysed after 24h. Quantification of Western blot data by densitometry. n=3 ± SEM. T-test *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 compared with the control

The chemokines downstream IL-4 pathway (CCL17, CCL18 and CCL22) diminished when miR-135b is overexpressed, and altered their secretion (Figure 1. 10 A-B); due to the inhibition of STAT6. Furthermore, the effects of miR-135b on c-MYC were notable on the expression of its dependent genes, ALOX15, CD206, CD1B and SCARB1 ²¹, as revealed in Figure 1. 10C. These outcomes proposed that miR-135b negative regulates the resolve responses induced by interleukin-4 stimulation in human macrophages, recapitulating with the targeting of the transcription factors.



Figure 1. 10 MiR-135b damps M2 polarized phenotype. Macrophages were transfected with 20 nM control mimics (scr) or mimics miR-135b. After the transfection the cells were treated with 20 ng/ml IL-4, cells were harvested, RNA isolated and supernatant collected 24h later. Levels of CCL22, CCL17 and CCL18 were determined compared to M0. Levels of c-MYC dependent genes (SCARB1, MRC1 and ALOX15) were determined compared to M0. n=5; mean ±SEM. *p<0,05 **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 n=5; mean ±SEM. The chemokines secretion were determined by E.L.I.S.A. *p<0,05 **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

miR-135b in macrophage plasticity

In order to confirm and extend miR-135b contribution to macrophage polarization, we assessed its expression in the re-polarization process. Human M1 macrophages were cultured with IL-4 ($20ng/\mu$ I) and M2 macrophages were treated with LPS + IFN γ for 10 hours, we examined the expression of known IL-4- and LPS-induced genes (ALOX15 and IL-12p40 respectively). As shown in Figure 1. 11, M1–to–M2 re-polarization resulted in a sensible decrease of miR-135b expression, while the M2–to–M1 conversion promoted miR-135b induction. These data highlighted that miR-135b expression followed the macrophage plasticity and preserved the inflammatory phenotype.



Figure 1. 11 miR-135b in macrophage polarization and re-polarization process. A, expression level of M1 marker IL-2p40 and M2, ALOX15 (B) and miR-135b levels in macrophages following M1-to-M2 switch by IL-4 for 10 h and in M2-to-M1 switch by LPS and IFN- γ for 10 h (D-F). n = 5; mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01 t-test, compared with resting macrophages.

Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers .

We asked whether the miR-135b inhibition in classical activated macrophages could reverse the phenotype. Therefore, we transfected resting macrophages (M0) with control or inhibitors against miR-135b (α -miR-135b), and after 24 hour we treated the cells with LPS (100ng/ml) plus IFN γ (20ng/ml). As displayed in Figure 1. 12, the miRNA inhibition has a faint impact on M1 markers expression, influencing the levels of CCL5 and CXCL10. On the other hand, the lack of miR-135b promotes the expression of some M2 markers, including c-MYC and STAT6. These observations settle that miR-135b has a repressive role in M2 macrophage polarization.



Figure 1. 12 Inhibition of miR-135b diminishes the expression of M1 markers. Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or antagomiR for miR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with LPS for 24h. Cells were harvested and RNA isolated. Levels of CCL5 (A), CXCL10 (B) and IL-12p40 (C) were determined, in addition M2 marker genes were evaluated (**D-I**) . n=3; mean ± SEM; ** p<0.01 compare to control (scr).
IL-10 inhibits miR-135b expression in response to LPS

IL-10 is a pleotropic cytokine crucial in dampening the inflammatory response, preventing an excessive inflammation by down-regulating the pro-inflammatory genes induced by Toll-like receptor activation ⁷⁸. McCoy CE and colleagues demonstrated that miR-155 reported to be induced in both mouse and human monocytes/macrophages in response to TLR-stimulation is inhibited by IL-10 stimulation ⁵⁴. Therefore, we sought to address whether IL-10 was able to negative modulate miR-135b upon TLR4 activation, with LPS. Thus, we treated resting macrophages with LPS, IL-10 or the combination of both stimuli for 2, 6 and 24h. We measured the levels of miR-135b, miR-146a and miR-155 (Figure 1. 13).



Figure 1. 13 IL-10 inhibits miR-135b expression in response to TLR4 stimulation. Human macrophages were cultured for the indicated times in medium alone or in the presence of 100

ng/ml LPS (black square), 30 ng/ml IL10 (white square) or the combination of both stimuli (white circle). Total RNA was extracted and miR-155, miR-146a and miR-135b expression was assessed by RT-qPCR and normalized to the snRNU6 levels. The results are expressed as fold change respect to resting macrophages (mean \pm SEM; *n*= 3). Statistics has been calculated using Bonferroni's multiple test to compare LPS treated to M0 (°°p<0.01; °°°°p< 0.00001); LPS + IL-10 treated sample to M0 ($\diamond \phi \phi$ p<0.001, $\phi \phi \phi \phi$ =0.0001) and IL-10 treated to M0 (***p<0.0001; ****0.00001).

When macrophages were stimulated, the expression of three miRNAs (miR-135b, miR-146a and miR-155) was induced. IL-10 stimulation alone or in concert with LPS did not induce the expression of miR-135b and miR-155, instead, it partially repressed the induction of miRNAs in response to LPS (Figure 1. 13A and C). However miR-146a expression pattern was not influenced by IL-10 as is already reported ⁵⁴. These data suggested that IL-10 altered the microRNA expression levels after LPS exposure, and miR-135b might be a novel IL-10 hinder-regulated miRNA gene.

In order to confirm and further investigate the role of IL-10 on miR-135b, we performed a qPCR analysis examined the pri- and the pre-miR-135b at 2, 6 and 24h from the stimulation with IL-10, LPS or in combination. The analysis revealed once again that miR-135b is induced by LPS, shown pri-miR-135b robustly induced at 2h and pre-miR-135b at 6h, in line with the normal processing of the microRNA. Nonetheless, IL-10 strikingly repressed the LPS-induction (Figure 1. 14). Thus, we could speculate that IL-10 counter-regulated miR-135b at transcriptional level.



Figure 1. 14 IL-10 inhibits the transcription of miR-135b. Human macrophages were cultured for the indicated times in medium alone or in the presence of 100 ng/ml LPS (black square), 30 ng/ml IL10 (white square) or the combination of both stimuli (white circle). Total RNA was extracted and pre-miR-135b and mature miR-135b expression was assessed by RT-qPCR and normalized to the GAPDH and snRNU6 levels respectively. The results are expressed as fold change against resting macrophages (mean \pm SEM; *n*= 3). Statistics has been calculated using Bonferroni's multiple test to compare LPS treated to M0 (°°p<0.01; °°°°p< 0.00001); LPS + IL-10 treated sample to M0 ($\bullet p$ <0.01, $\bullet \bullet \bullet p$ <0.0001) and IL-10 treated to M0 (*p<0.05; **0.01).

Endogenous IL-10 inhibits mature miR-135b in primary BMDM

LPS stimulation beyond induces pro-inflammatory cytokines, prompts IL-10 as negatively feedback modulator. We evaluated that IL-10 outcome on miR-135b in primary BMDM when the cells are treated in combination with LPS, Figure 1. 15A. We also compared the miR-135b expression in primary wild-type and IL-10-deficient BMDM upon LPS treatment. As shown in Figure 1. 15B, LPS normally induced IL-10 secretion; however IL-10-deficient mice were not able to respond. As expected, miR-135b was higher induced (~3-fold) in IL-10 KO mice than wild type upon LPS stimulation. These findings demonstrate that the endogenous IL-10, resulting by LPS stimulation, constrains the expression of miR-135b, checking in this way its expression.



Figure 1. 15 Endogenous IL-10 inhibits mature miR-135b in primary BMDM. A, BMDM were cultured for the indicated times in medium alone or in the presence of 100 ng/ml LPS (black square), 30 ng/ml IL10 (white square) or the combination of both stimuli (white circle). Total RNA

was extracted and miR-135b expression was assessed by RT-qPCR and normalized to the snRNU6 levels. The results are expressed as fold change respect to resting macrophages (mean \pm SEM; *n*= 3). Statistics has been calculated using Bonferroni's multiple test to compare LPS treated to M0 (°°°°p< 0.00001); and IL-10 treated to M0 (***p<0.0001). **B**, IL-10 secretion was measured in wild type C57BL/6 and IL-10 knockout mice. Cytokine secretion was determined by E.L.I.S.A. n=7; mean \pm SEM; ***p<0.001 compared to control wild type.

miR-135b is highly express in murine classical activated macrophages

We would to address if miR-135b role shown in human macrophages is the same in BMDM. As highlighted in Figure 1. 16, murine miR-135b (mmu-miR-135b) was highly prompted by TLR4 activation and its expression was dynamic in murine macrophage reprogramming as well as in human macrophages. Indeed, mmu-miR-135b levels were higher when the cells were repolarized from M2 to M1 phenotype (Figure 1. 16 B-C). M1– to–M2 re-polarization decreased miR-135b expression.



Figure 1. 16 Murine classic activated macrophage highly express mmu-miR-135b. A, bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDM) were cultured for 24h with 100 ng/ml LPS; 20 ng/ml IFN- γ and 20ng/ml IL-4. RNA was extracted and mature miR-135b ware analyzed by qPCR. n =3; mean ± SEM. Statistics has been calculated using t-test ***p < 0.001 compared with resting macrophages. **B**, miR-135b levels in macrophages following M1-to-M2 switch by IL-4 for 10 h. n =3; mean ± SEM. Statistics has been calculated using t-test *p<0.05, compared with M1. **C**, M2-to-M1 switch by LPS and IFN- γ for 10 h. n = 5; mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01 t-test, compared with M2.

miR-135b damps the alternative activated macrophage polarization

We next investigated the role of miR-135b in primary BMDM; thru the enhanced or silenced expression of the miRNA, Figure 1. 17. Boosted mmu-miR-135b expression in M2 macrophages caused the down regulation of c-Myc and Stat6, influencing also Alox15 (Figure 1. 17 A-B); on the other hand promoted the expression of some M1 marker genes (Ccl5 and Nos2). The lack of mmu-miR-135b in M1 macrophages up regulated some M2 marker genes, in particular c-Myc (Figure 1. 17D). These data confirm once again the involvement of miR-135b in macrophage activation and polarization.



Figure 1. 17 mmu-miR-135b damps the alternative activated macrophage polarization. A,B, BMDM , were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or miR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with IL-4 for 24h. Levels of M1 markers (Ccl5, Nos2, Cox2) and M2 markers (Fizz, Arg1, C-Myc, Stat6, Klf4 And Alox15) were measured with qPCR. (C-D) were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or antagomiR for miR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with LPS for 24h. Cells were harvested and RNA isolated. Levels of M1 and M2 markers were determined, n=3; mean ± SEM; *p<0.05; ** p<0.01 compare to control (scr).

DISCUSSION

In this present study we have demonstrated once again that miRNAs can be considered as master regulators of innate immunity. In particular we have highlighted a restricted miRNAs signature in human in vitro-polarized macrophages, 69 miRNAs were differentially expressed among macrophage subsets (M1; LPS + INF- γ , M2; IL-4). From the screening was emerged that resting macrophages and M2 shown a quite similar miRNome. In addition, we have identified a novel microRNA induced by LPS stimulation, miR-135b, both in human and murine macrophages. miR-135b is an oncomiR involved in cancer progression and tissue differentiation, useful also as bio-marker 79,80. Recently, miR-135b has been reported to be up-regulated in lung tissues upon exposure to cigarette smoke and nanoparticles, through activation of the IL-1 α /IL-1R pathway ⁸¹. Interestingly, it suppressed Th2 and Th17 differentiation via STAT6 and GATA3 targeting leading to ALCL (anaplastic large cell lymphoma) 57. Nevertheless, our study identified for the first time miR-135b to be linked to the innate immune response. This microRNA was not able to activate steady state macrophage toward M1 phenotype, however its enforced expression interfered with IL-4 signaling pathway. In addition, miR-135b damped the alternative phenotype favoring the classic one. Consist with these findings, in silico analysis highlighted a target enrichment in IL-4 signaling pathway, in particular through interaction with the major transcription factors, c-MYC, STAT6, and KLF4. We have abundantly confirmed these observations in our in vitro study thru the enhanced expression of the miR-135b down-regulated in primary macrophages c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4 at mRNA and protein levels. Interleukin-4 leads to STAT6 activation which controls expression and production of chemokines such CCL17 and CCL22 82 that we found repressed upon miR-135b overexpression in M2 macrophages. STAT6 works, moreover, in synergy whit KLF4 sustaining M2 gene expression. The inhibition of KLF4 is translated with the increase of pro-inflammatory genes ¹⁹, which was confirmed in our study, miR-135b over-expression leads to enhancer M1 chemokines production. c-MYC is a pleiotropic transcription factor, which controls significantly the alternative activation phenotype²⁰. It bids directly with the promoter of ALOX15, MRC1, SCARB1 and STAT6²¹. miR-135b has emerged from our findings as a miRNA that enhanced the classic

polarization and blocked the M2 re-programming thru the targeting of the major transcription factors at the crossroad of macrophage polarization. miR-135b relevance in macrophage re-programming was enforced also by the negative role promoted by IL-10. Interleukin-10 is anti-inflammatory cytokine also induced by TLRs acts as autocrine feedback regulator to resolve acute inflammation. We sought to determine IL-10 role on miR-135b expression. In this study we have confirmed IL-10 role on TRL4-response miRNAs, as found from McCoy and colleagues ⁵⁴. IL-10 stimulation in combination with LPS inhibits the expression of miR-135b both in human and murine, with a specific effect. In addition, we demonstrated that miR-135b expression was extremely increased in response to LPS in IL-10 KO macrophages. Overall these data stressing that endogenous IL-10 produced downstream TLR signaling, is a negative feedback system to damp also miR-135b levels.

In summary, we have shown that macrophage phenotypes are characterized by distinct miRNome. Moreover our results highlight a novel miRNA induced downstream TLR4 signaling pathway, miR-135b which enforce the classic activation phenotype and is inhibited by IL-10 to extinguish inflammation. Although miR-135b acts like a pivot in macrophage polarization.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents.

LPS from *Escherichia coli* serotype 055:B5 was purchased from Sigma, Pam3CsK4, was purchased from Enzo Life Sciences. Human IL-10, IL-1 β , IFN γ and IL-4 were purchased from R&D Systems. Dexamethasone was from Sigma-Aldrich. Rabbit anti-STAT6 (#9362) and rabbit anti-KLF4 (#12173) were antibodies from Cell Signaling Technology. Mouse anti-c-MYC (9E10) was purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. Rabbit anti-GAPDH (#5174) was purchased by Cell Signaling Technology.

Macrophage generation and polarization.

Human monocytes were isolated from healthy donor buffy coats by two step gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare) and Percoll (Amersham). No adherent cells were discarded, and purified monocytes were cultured in T25 flasks at 10⁶ cells/ml in RPMI 1640 (Lonza) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Lonza), 1% (v/v) penicillin–streptomycin (Lonza), and 1% glutamine (Lonza). Monocytes were differentiated in macrophages by exposure to 50 ng/ml M-CSF for 6 days. Resting macrophages were then polarized to M1 macrophages using 100 ng/ml LPS plus 20 ng/ml IFN γ or M2 macrophages using 20 ng/ml IL-4 for 24 h before being evaluated. Resting macrophages (M0) were left untreated in culture medium.

Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDM) preparation

BMDB were obtained from 7-9 weeks old male C57BL/6 wild type and IL-10 KO. Femurs were obtained, muscles connected to the bone were removed and washed in sterile RPMI 1640 and then both epiphyses were removed. The bones were flushed with a syringe filled with RPMI 1640 to extrude bone marrow into a 15 mL sterile polypropylene tube. The obtained BMDMs were cultured in complete IMDM medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Lonza), 1% (v/v) penicillin–streptomycin (Lonza), and 1% glutamine (Lonza). After 7 days of culture, adherent macrophages (BMDM) were recovered and directly used for experiments.

Human macrophage miRNome profiling

TaqMan low density array (TLDA) human miRNA assays (version 2.0; Applied Biosystems) were used to profile the macrophage miRNome in different activate phenotypes. Briefly, cDNA was obtained using the TaqMan reverse transcription kit and Megaplex primer pools A and B (version 2.0). PCR amplification was first performed using TaqMan PreAmp Master Mix (version 2.0). Lastly, TLDA cards A and B were loaded, and PCR was performed on a 7900HT fast real time PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Expressions fold changes each miRNA were evaluated with $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method using SDS (version 2.3) and SDS RQ Manager software (version 1.2). U6 was used as an endogenous control.

miRNA isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR Analyses.

Total RNA enriched with small RNAs faction was isolated by TRIzol (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each sample, two independent reverse transcription reactions were performed as followed, using TaqMan miRNA assay (Applied Biosystems). Briefly 10 ng of total RNAs were reverse transcribed with individual stem-loop RT-primers for has-miR-135b (Cat: 002261), has-miR-155 (Cat: 002623), has-miR-146a (Cat: 000468), mmu-miR-155 (Cat: 002571), U6 snRNA (Cat: 001973) and snoR-302 (Cat: 001232). Following, 1 ng of each individually synthesized cDNA in 10µL of final reaction, was used in the qPCR assay with specific TaqMan probes. Realtime PCR was conducted in CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). Relative miRNAs expressions were determined by using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method ⁸³, normalizing the levels with U6 snRNA or snRNA-302.

RNA isolation and gene expression analysis.

Total RNA was purified using TRIzol (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and was quantified by its absorption at 260 nm. First-strand cDNA was synthesized from 1 μ g of total RNA in 50 μ L of reaction mixture using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturer's guidelines. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using specific oligonucleotides which are

reported in Table 1. 2 Sybr Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) was used in a CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). The thermal cycling conditions were composed of 50°C for 2 min followed by an initial denaturation step at 95°C for 10 min, 45 cycles at 95°C for 30s, 60°C for 30s and 72°C for 30s. Results were analyzed with CFX software, and relative expression values were calculated according to $\Delta\Delta$ cycle threshold method normalized using GAPDH as housekeeping.

Table 1. 2 Primers sequence

Human Genes	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
ALOX15	CTTGCTCTGACCACACCAGA	GCTGGGGCCAAACTATATGA
CCL17	TGTATATGTCATCTCAGTGC	TAGGGACATCATATCTTAA
CCL18	GAGGCCAGGAGTTGTGAGTT	CATGGTGCAGACGAGGACAA
CCL5	TATTCCTCGGACACCACACC	ACACACTTGGCGGTTCTTTC
CD1b	CAGCAGTTTAGAGGGCCAGG	CAAAAGGAGCAAGGAAGGCAC
CD206	GGGCAGTGAAAGCTTATGGA	CCTGTCAGGTATGTTTGCTCA
CD80	GGGAAAGTGTACGCCCTGTA	GCTACTTCTGTGCCCACCAT
c-MYC	CGTCCTCGGATTCTCTGCTC	GCTGGTGCATTTTCGGTTGT
COX2	CCCTTGGGTGTCAAAGGTAA	GCCCTCGCTTATGATCTGTC
CXCL10	AGCCAATTTTGTCCACGTGT	TGATGGCCTTCGATTCTGGA
CXCL9	TGAGAAAGGGTCGCTGTTCC	TCAAACTGCTTGGCTCACCA
GAPDH	GATCATCAGCAATGCCTCCT	TGTGGTCATGAGTCCTTCCA
IL-10	AGAACCTGAAGACCCTCAGGC	CCACGGCCTTGCTCTTGTT
IL-12p40	CCAAGAACTTGCAGCTGAAG	TGGGTCTATTCCGTTGTGTC
KLF4	ATGCTCACCCCACCTTCTTC	GGTGGTCCGACCTGGAAAAT
STAT6	AACCTTTCTCCTCCGCTTCA	TGAGCGAATGGACAGGTCTT
Murine Genes	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
ALOX15	GAATACCTTGGGCCACTGCT	GTCAGAGATACTGGTCGCCG
ARG1	CAGAAGAATGGAAGAGTCAG	CAGATATGCAGGGAGTCACC
CCL5	TGCTCCAATCTTGCAGTCGT	GCAAGCAATGACAGGGAAGC
c-MYC	TAACTCGAGGAGGAGCTGGA	GCCAAGGTTGTGAGGTTAGG
COX2	AATGAGTACCGCAAACGCTTC	CAGCCATTTCCTTCTCTCTGTA
FIZZ	GGTCCCAGTGCATATGGATGAG	CACCTCTTCACTCGAGGGACAGT
KLF4	AACATGCCCGGACTTACAAA	TTCAAGGGAATCCTGGTCTTC
NOS2	GCCACCAACAATGGCAACA	CGTACCGGATGAGCTGTGAATT
STAT6	TCTCCACGAGCTTCACATTG	GACCACCAAGGGCAGAGAC

Luciferase Reporter Assay.

HEK-293T cells were plated in 24-well plates in 500 μ L of D-MEM medium, supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% of L-glutamine at 16 × 10⁴ per well. After 24 h, cells were transfected with 100 ng psiCHECK-2–3'UTR reporter construct and 10pmole of mimic-miR-135b or scramble control (mirVanaTM, Ambion Applied Biosystems) by using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). After 24h from the transfection, cells were lysed, and

luciferase activity of both firefly and renilla, were determined by using the DualGlo Luciferase Assay System (Promega). The enzymatic activities were measured by using a MultiDetection Microplate Reader Synergy 2 luminometer (BioTek). The values of renilla luciferase activity were normalized and were expressed as fold changes relative to the value of the negative control.

Macrophage Transfection.

Purified macrophages were cultured in medium supplemented with 2 mM glutamine and 10% FCS. Were transfected with 10pmole of miRNA mimic (Ambion, Applied Biosystems), or with 10pmole miRCURY LNA microRNA InhibitorTM (Exiqon), using TransIT-TKO Transfection Reagent (Mirus Bio), according to the manufacturer's protocol. In brief, for transfection in 6-well plates, for each well the following solutions were combined miRNA mimic/ microRNA Inhibitor with 10µl TransIT-TKO mixed 250 µl Opti-MemI. This complex was incubated for 30 min at RT, and dripped into 1.2x10⁶ cells/well seeded. After 24 h, transient transfected cell were stimulated as indicated.

Immunoblots.

Macrophages (5 × 10⁶) were lysed in 40 mM Tris, 1% SDS, 7.5% glycerol and boiled for 10 min at 95 °C. Then 100 μ g of total cell lysates were resolved on 10% SDS/PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose (Hybond; GE Healthcare). Blotted membranes were blocked either with 5% milk in PBST (for c-Myc, STAT6 and GAPDH staining) or in TBST +5% BSA (for KLF4 staining) for 1 hour at room temperature then washed. The blots were incubated with specific antibodies overnight at 4°C or at RT for 1h with the primary antibody of GAPDH. After washing 3x 10 min with the appropriate washing buffer, the membrane was incubated for 1h at RT with a horseradish-peroxidase (HRP)-coupled secondary antibody. The working concentrations and conditions of each antibody are listed in the following Table 1. 3. This was followed by five 3-min washes in TBST at room temperature and incubation in Clarity western ECL substrate chemiluminescent detection reagent (Bio-Rad) for 5 min prior to image acquisition. The chemiluminescent blots were imaged first with the ChemiDoc MP imager (Bio-Rad) and analysed with ImageLab software version 4.1 (Bio-Rad).

Primary antibody	Dilution factor	Secondary antibody	Dilution factor
Mouse anti-c-MYC	1:200 in 5% milk PBST	Goat anti-mouse HRP	1:10000 in 5% milk PBST
Rabbit anti-STAT6	1:1000 in 5% milk PBST		
Rabbit anti-KLF4	1:1000 in 5% BSA TBST		
Rabbit anti-GAPDH	1:1000 in 5% milk PBST		

Table 1. 3 Antibody dilution for Western blot assay

ELISA assay.

Antibodies and detection reagents for ELISA assays were purchased from R&D Systems and used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were diluted so that the optical density fell within the optimal portion of a log standard curve.

Statistical analysis.

Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and statistical significance was based on nonparametric t-test or non-parametric ANOVA followed by post hoc Bonferroni's test performed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software).

REFERENCES

- 1 Murray, P. J. & Wynn, T. A. Obstacles and opportunities for understanding macrophage polarization. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **89**, 557-563, doi:10.1189/jlb.0710409 (2011).
- 2 Stein, M., Keshav, S., Harris, N. & Gordon, S. Interleukin 4 potently enhances murine macrophage mannose receptor activity: a marker of alternative immunologic macrophage activation. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **176**, 287-292 (1992).
- 3 Mantovani, A., Sozzani, S., Locati, M., Allavena, P. & Sica, A. Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. *Trends in immunology* **23**, 549-555 (2002).
- 4 Mantovani, A., Sica, A. & Locati, M. Macrophage polarization comes of age. *Immunity* **23**, 344-346, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.10.001 (2005).
- 5 Sica, A. & Mantovani, A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **122**, 787-795, doi:10.1172/JCI59643 (2012).
- 6 Wynn, T. A., Chawla, A. & Pollard, J. W. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature* **496**, 445-455, doi:10.1038/nature12034 (2013).
- Pena, O. M., Pistolic, J., Raj, D., Fjell, C. D. & Hancock, R. E. Endotoxin tolerance represents a distinctive state of alternative polarization (M2) in human mononuclear cells. *J Immunol* 186, 7243-7254, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001952 (2011).
- 8 Crowther, M., Brown, N. J., Bishop, E. T. & Lewis, C. E. Microenvironmental influence on macrophage regulation of angiogenesis in wounds and malignant tumors. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **70**, 478-490 (2001).
- 9 Akira, S., Uematsu, S. & Takeuchi, O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell* **124**, 783-801, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015 (2006).
- 10 Sikorski, K. *et al.* STAT1 as a central mediator of IFNgamma and TLR4 signal integration in vascular dysfunction. *Jak-Stat* **1**, 241-249, doi:10.4161/jkst.22469 (2012).
- 11 Liu, J. & Ma, X. Interferon regulatory factor 8 regulates RANTES gene transcription in cooperation with interferon regulatory factor-1, NF-kappaB, and PU.1. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **281**, 19188-19195, doi:10.1074/jbc.M602059200 (2006).
- 12 Sen, R. & Baltimore, D. Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences. *Cell* **46**, 705-716 (1986).
- 13 Ghosh, S., May, M. J. & Kopp, E. B. NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. *Annual review of immunology* **16**, 225-260, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.225 (1998).
- 14 Hayden, M. S. & Ghosh, S. Shared principles in NF-kappaB signaling. *Cell* **132**, 344-362, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.020 (2008).
- 15 Wang, N., Liang, H. & Zen, K. Molecular mechanisms that influence the macrophage m1m2 polarization balance. *Frontiers in immunology* **5**, 614, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00614 (2014).
- 16 Martinez, F. O. & Gordon, S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000prime reports* **6**, 13, doi:10.12703/P6-13 (2014).
- 17 Zhang, S., Gu, H. & Hu, N. Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor gamma in Ocular Diseases. *Journal of ophthalmology* **2015**, 275435, doi:10.1155/2015/275435 (2015).
- 18 Galvan-Pena, S. & O'Neill, L. A. Metabolic reprograming in macrophage polarization. *Frontiers in immunology* **5**, 420, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00420 (2014).

- 19 Liao, X. *et al.* Kruppel-like factor 4 regulates macrophage polarization. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **121**, 2736-2749, doi:10.1172/JCI45444 (2011).
- 20 Bianchi, T., Gasser, S., Trumpp, A. & MacDonald, H. R. c-Myc acts downstream of IL-15 in the regulation of memory CD8 T-cell homeostasis. *Blood* **107**, 3992-3999, doi:10.1182/blood-2005-09-3851 (2006).
- 21 Pello, O. M. *et al.* Role of c-MYC in alternative activation of human macrophages and tumor-associated macrophage biology. *Blood* **119**, 411-421, doi:10.1182/blood-2011-02-339911 (2012).
- 22 Blobe, G. C., Schiemann, W. P. & Lodish, H. F. Role of transforming growth factor beta in human disease. *The New England journal of medicine* **342**, 1350-1358, doi:10.1056/NEJM200005043421807 (2000).
- 23 Raes, G. *et al.* Macrophage galactose-type C-type lectins as novel markers for alternatively activated macrophages elicited by parasitic infections and allergic airway inflammation. *Journal of leukocyte biology* **77**, 321-327, doi:10.1189/jlb.0304212 (2005).
- 24 Shi, Y. & Massague, J. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. *Cell* **113**, 685-700 (2003).
- 25 Landstrom, M. The TAK1-TRAF6 signalling pathway. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* **42**, 585-589, doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.12.023 (2010).
- 26 Boonstra, A. *et al.* Macrophages and myeloid dendritic cells, but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells, produce IL-10 in response to MyD88- and TRIF-dependent TLR signals, and TLR-independent signals. *J Immunol* **177**, 7551-7558 (2006).
- 27 Yoon, S. I., Logsdon, N. J., Sheikh, F., Donnelly, R. P. & Walter, M. R. Conformational changes mediate interleukin-10 receptor 2 (IL-10R2) binding to IL-10 and assembly of the signaling complex. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 281, 35088-35096, doi:10.1074/jbc.M606791200 (2006).
- 28 Kuwata, H. *et al.* IL-10-inducible Bcl-3 negatively regulates LPS-induced TNF-alpha production in macrophages. *Blood* **102**, 4123-4129, doi:10.1182/blood-2003-04-1228 (2003).
- 29 Hutchins, A. P. *et al.* Distinct transcriptional regulatory modules underlie STAT3's cell type-independent and cell type-specific functions. *Nucleic acids research* **41**, 2155-2170, doi:10.1093/nar/gks1300 (2013).
- de Waal Malefyt, R., Abrams, J., Bennett, B., Figdor, C. G. & de Vries, J. E. Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **174**, 1209-1220 (1991).
- 31 Berkman, N. *et al.* Inhibition of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha expression by IL-10. Differential sensitivities in human blood monocytes and alveolar macrophages. *J Immunol* **155**, 4412-4418 (1995).
- 32 Bogdan, C., Vodovotz, Y. & Nathan, C. Macrophage deactivation by interleukin 10. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **174**, 1549-1555 (1991).
- Lang, R., Patel, D., Morris, J. J., Rutschman, R. L. & Murray, P. J. Shaping gene expression in activated and resting primary macrophages by IL-10. *J Immunol* **169**, 2253-2263 (2002).
- 34 Kuhn, R., Lohler, J., Rennick, D., Rajewsky, K. & Muller, W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* **75**, 263-274 (1993).
- 35 Franke, A. *et al.* Sequence variants in IL10, ARPC2 and multiple other loci contribute to ulcerative colitis susceptibility. *Nature genetics* **40**, 1319-1323, doi:10.1038/ng.221 (2008).
- 36 Glocker, E. O. *et al.* Inflammatory bowel disease and mutations affecting the interleukin-10 receptor. *The New England journal of medicine* **361**, 2033-2045, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907206 (2009).

- Li, W. *et al.* Recipient pretreatment with mammalian IL-10 prolongs mouse cardiac allograft survival by inhibition of anti-donor T cell responses. *Transplantation proceedings* 31, 115 (1999).
- 38 Moore, K. W. *et al.* Homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. *Science* **248**, 1230-1234 (1990).
- 39 Malyshev, I. & Malyshev, Y. Current Concept and Update of the Macrophage Plasticity Concept: Intracellular Mechanisms of Reprogramming and M3 Macrophage "Switch" Phenotype. *BioMed research international* **2015**, 341308, doi:10.1155/2015/341308 (2015).
- 40 Bartel, D. P. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**, 281-297 (2004).
- 41 Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L. & Ambros, V. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* **75**, 843-854 (1993).
- 42 Winter, J., Jung, S., Keller, S., Gregory, R. I. & Diederichs, S. Many roads to maturity: microRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation. *Nature cell biology* **11**, 228-234, doi:10.1038/ncb0309-228 (2009).
- 43 Chen, C. Z., Li, L., Lodish, H. F. & Bartel, D. P. MicroRNAs modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. *Science* **303**, 83-86, doi:10.1126/science.1091903 (2004).
- 44 He, X., Jing, Z. & Cheng, G. MicroRNAs: new regulators of Toll-like receptor signalling pathways. *BioMed research international* **2014**, 945169, doi:10.1155/2014/945169 (2014).
- 45 Locati, M., Mantovani, A. & Sica, A. Macrophage activation and polarization as an adaptive component of innate immunity. *Advances in immunology* **120**, 163-184, doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00006-5 (2013).
- 46 O'Connell, R. M., Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Cheng, G. & Baltimore, D. MicroRNA-155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**, 1604-1609, doi:10.1073/pnas.0610731104 (2007).
- 47 Wang, P. *et al.* Inducible microRNA-155 feedback promotes type I IFN signaling in antiviral innate immunity by targeting suppressor of cytokine signaling 1. *J Immunol* **185**, 6226-6233, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000491 (2010).
- 48 Xu, F. *et al.* Akt1-mediated regulation of macrophage polarization in a murine model of Staphylococcus aureus pulmonary infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **208**, 528-538, doi:10.1093/infdis/jit177 (2013).
- 49 O'Connell, R. M., Chaudhuri, A. A., Rao, D. S. & Baltimore, D. Inositol phosphatase SHIP1 is a primary target of miR-155. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 7113-7118, doi:10.1073/pnas.0902636106 (2009).
- 50 Nazari-Jahantigh, M. *et al.* MicroRNA-155 promotes atherosclerosis by repressing Bcl6 in macrophages. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **122**, 4190-4202, doi:10.1172/JCI61716 (2012).
- 51 Huffaker, T. B. & O'Connell, R. M. miR-155-SOCS1 as a Functional Axis: Satisfying the Burden of Proof. *Immunity* **43**, 3-4, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.020 (2015).
- 52 Bala, S. *et al.* Up-regulation of microRNA-155 in macrophages contributes to increased tumor necrosis factor {alpha} (TNF{alpha}) production via increased mRNA half-life in alcoholic liver disease. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **286**, 1436-1444, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.145870 (2011).
- 53 He, M., Xu, Z., Ding, T., Kuang, D. M. & Zheng, L. MicroRNA-155 regulates inflammatory cytokine production in tumor-associated macrophages via targeting C/EBPbeta. *Cellular & molecular immunology* **6**, 343-352, doi:10.1038/cmi.2009.45 (2009).
- 54 McCoy, C. E. *et al.* IL-10 inhibits miR-155 induction by toll-like receptors. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **285**, 20492-20498, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.102111 (2010).

- 55 Mizutani, A. *et al.* Cell type-specific target selection by combinatorial binding of Smad2/3 proteins and hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha in HepG2 cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **286**, 29848-29860, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.217745 (2011).
- 56 Tang, B. *et al.* Identification of MyD88 as a novel target of miR-155, involved in negative regulation of Helicobacter pylori-induced inflammation. *FEBS letters* **584**, 1481-1486, doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2010.02.063 (2010).
- 57 Matsuyama, H. *et al.* miR-135b mediates NPM-ALK-driven oncogenicity and renders IL-17producing immunophenotype to anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *Blood* **118**, 6881-6892, doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-354654 (2011).
- 58 Mihira, H. *et al.* TGF-beta-induced mesenchymal transition of MS-1 endothelial cells requires Smad-dependent cooperative activation of Rho signals and MRTF-A. *Journal of biochemistry* **151**, 145-156, doi:10.1093/jb/mvr121 (2012).
- 59 Moore, K. W. *et al.* Pillars article: homology of cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor (IL-10) to the Epstein-Barr virus gene BCRFI. Science. 1990. 248: 1230-1234. *J Immunol* **189**, 2072-2076 (2012).
- 60 Suzuki-Hirano, A. *et al.* Dynamic spatiotemporal gene expression in embryonic mouse thalamus. *The Journal of comparative neurology* **519**, 528-543, doi:10.1002/cne.22531 (2011).
- 61 Suzuki, H. I. & Miyazono, K. Emerging complexity of microRNA generation cascades. *Journal of biochemistry* **149**, 15-25, doi:10.1093/jb/mvq113 (2011).
- 62 Curtale, G. *et al.* Negative regulation of Toll-like receptor 4 signaling by IL-10-dependent microRNA-146b. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **110**, 11499-11504, doi:10.1073/pnas.1219852110 (2013).
- 63 Kim, S. W. *et al.* MicroRNAs miR-125a and miR-125b constitutively activate the NF-kappaB pathway by targeting the tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced protein 3 (TNFAIP3, A20). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, 7865-7870, doi:10.1073/pnas.1200081109 (2012).
- 64 Chaudhuri, A. A. *et al.* MicroRNA-125b potentiates macrophage activation. *J Immunol* **187**, 5062-5068, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102001 (2011).
- 65 Tili, E. *et al.* Modulation of miR-155 and miR-125b levels following lipopolysaccharide/TNF-alpha stimulation and their possible roles in regulating the response to endotoxin shock. *J Immunol* **179**, 5082-5089 (2007).
- 66 Squadrito, M. L. *et al.* miR-511-3p modulates genetic programs of tumor-associated macrophages. *Cell reports* **1**, 141-154, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2011.12.005 (2012).
- 67 Biswas, P. S. *et al.* Phosphorylation of IRF4 by ROCK2 regulates IL-17 and IL-21 production and the development of autoimmunity in mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **120**, 3280-3295, doi:10.1172/JCI42856 (2010).
- 68 Karo-Atar, D., Itan, M., Pasmanik-Chor, M. & Munitz, A. MicroRNA profiling reveals opposing expression patterns for miR-511 in alternatively and classically activated macrophages. *The Journal of asthma : official journal of the Association for the Care of Asthma* **52**, 545-553, doi:10.3109/02770903.2014.988222 (2015).
- 69 Banerjee, S. *et al.* MicroRNA let-7c regulates macrophage polarization. *J Immunol* **190**, 6542-6549, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202496 (2013).
- 70 Kumar, M. *et al.* MicroRNA let-7 modulates the immune response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection via control of A20, an inhibitor of the NF-kappaB pathway. *Cell host & microbe* **17**, 345-356, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2015.01.007 (2015).
- 71 Bazzoni, F. *et al.* Induction and regulatory function of miR-9 in human monocytes and neutrophils exposed to proinflammatory signals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 5282-5287, doi:10.1073/pnas.0810909106 (2009).

- 72 Liu, G. *et al.* miR-147, a microRNA that is induced upon Toll-like receptor stimulation, regulates murine macrophage inflammatory responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 15819-15824, doi:10.1073/pnas.0901216106 (2009).
- 73 Prada, D. *et al.* Satellite 2 demethylation induced by 5-azacytidine is associated with missegregation of chromosomes 1 and 16 in human somatic cells. *Mutation research* **729**, 100-105, doi:10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.10.007 (2012).
- 74 Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K. J. & Baltimore, D. NF-kappaB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 12481-12486, doi:10.1073/pnas.0605298103 (2006).
- 75 Perry, M. M. *et al.* Rapid changes in microRNA-146a expression negatively regulate the IL-1beta-induced inflammatory response in human lung alveolar epithelial cells. *J Immunol* **180**, 5689-5698 (2008).
- 76 Rossato, M. *et al.* IL-10-induced microRNA-187 negatively regulates TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-12p40 production in TLR4-stimulated monocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **109**, E3101-3110, doi:10.1073/pnas.1209100109 (2012).
- 77 Martinez, F. O., Gordon, S., Locati, M. & Mantovani, A. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. *J Immunol* **177**, 7303-7311 (2006).
- 78 Murray, P. J. Understanding and exploiting the endogenous interleukin-10/STAT3mediated anti-inflammatory response. *Current opinion in pharmacology* **6**, 379-386, doi:10.1016/j.coph.2006.01.010 (2006).
- 79 He, Y. *et al.* MicroRNA-135b regulates apoptosis and chemoresistance in colorectal cancer by targeting large tumor suppressor kinase 2. *American journal of cancer research* **5**, 1382-1395 (2015).
- 80 Valeri, N. *et al.* MicroRNA-135b promotes cancer progression by acting as a downstream effector of oncogenic pathways in colon cancer. *Cancer cell* **25**, 469-483, doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2014.03.006 (2014).
- 81 Halappanavar, S. *et al.* IL-1 receptor regulates microRNA-135b expression in a negative feedback mechanism during cigarette smoke-induced inflammation. *J Immunol* **190**, 3679-3686, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202456 (2013).
- 82 Fulkerson, P. C., Zimmermann, N., Hassman, L. M., Finkelman, F. D. & Rothenberg, M. E. Pulmonary chemokine expression is coordinately regulated by STAT1, STAT6, and IFNgamma. *J Immunol* **173**, 7565-7574 (2004).
- 83 Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25**, 402-408, doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262 (2001).

Chapter: The "junk" RNA controlled by glucocorticoids: miR-135b and its host gene BLACAT1

List of figures

Figure 2. 1 chromatin landscape influenced by Pu.1	59
Figure 2. 2 Regulation of pri-miRNA processing.	63
Figure 2. 3 LncRNAs in gene regulation.	66
Figure 2. 4 lncRNAs in innate immunity	68
Figure 2. 5 hsa-miR-135b is transcribed from within the intronic sequence of BLACAT	1.71
Figure 2. 6 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus	72
Figure 2. 7 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon LPS	5
treatment	74
Figure 2. 8 Expression of host gene BLACAT1 and mature hsa-miR-135b	76
Figure 2. 9 Dexamethasone regulates miR-135b.	78
Figure 2. 10 IncRNA BLACAT1 blocks miR-135b in DEX-activated macrophages	79
Figure 2. 11 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon D	EX
treatment	80
Figure 2. 12 Dex inhibits miR-135b processing.	82
Figure 2. 13 MCPIP1 expression is impaired by BLACAT1 inhibition	83
Figure 2. 14 BLACAT1 dependent genes	84

INTRODUCTION

Epigenetics

Epigenetic changes regulate diverse cellular functions including cellular differentiation, cell activation and transformation. Epigenetic mechanisms are classically mediated by post-translational modifications (such as methylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation) of histones and other DNA binding proteins, by methylation and hydroxymethylation of CpG DNA motifs, and by noncoding RNA ¹. These epigenetic variation are dynamically influenced by environmental insults ², more over the cell specific epigenetic "landscape" determines accessibility of to the transcription factors ², such as STATs.

In macrophage polarization histone modifications presents distinct behavior, transcriptional promote or suppress ³. The balance of positive and negative histone marks at gene promoters and enhancer defines the transcriptional state ³.

Adaptations in gene expression that rule macrophage polarization is caused by the collaboration between gene promoters and regulatory enhancer elements. Promoter regions, located proximal to gene transcription start sites (TSS), while enhancers are TSS-distal cis-elements, contain specific DNA motifs recognized by specific transcription factors. The lineage specific-transcription factors are mostly bound to enhancer regions. The formation of enhancers is therefore cell type-specific than the presence of promoter elements ⁴. In the following paragraphs will be highlighted the chromatin organization on enhancer important to define a macrophage phenotype.

Chromatin conformation in M1 macrophage activation

The initial epigenetic landscape at the TRL-leading gene loci is established during macrophage differentiation whereby the myeloid transcription factor PU.1 and C/EBP α bind to regulatory regions (promoters and enhancers) of these genes ⁵. PU.1 is already active at the early stage of myeloid differentiation, antagonizing transcription factor GATA-1. It leads towards the monocyte lineage supported by C/EBP α , C/EBP β and IRF8⁶. From a mechanistic point of view in macrophage activation we can identify three classes

of TFs. The first class (such as Pu.1 and C/EBPβ) open the chromatin to facilitate access of a second group of TFs called 'primers', such as IRF4, that are able to prime for activation regions that are associated with stimulus-dependent gene induction. The third class binds specific set of genes in a stimulus-dependent manner and control gene expression induction (Figure 2. 1). Therefore, the transcriptional potential f is established before stimulation by binding of TF subset to their genomic cis-regulatory regions.



Figure 2. 1 chromatin landscape influenced by Pu.1 The lineage-determining TF Pu.1 binds to regulatory elements and promotes deposition of H3K4me1. This binding is followed by the arrived of a second group of TFs called "primers" that in turn leads to gene transcription of triggered-specific genes, such as NF-κB, AP-1, and STATs that promote a specific set of pro-inflammatory genes. Figure from Ghisletti and Natoli, 2013.

It is broadly recognized that histone modifications constitute a "histone code", characterized by histone acetylation marks and H3K4 enriched in active chromatin regions, while, trimethylation of H3K9, H3K27 and H3K79 are linked to silencing of gene expression ^{7,8}. A subset of LPS-inducible genes experiences signal-dependent demethylation of trymethylated H3K27 to allow their expression. This activity is promoted by (KDM6B; also known as JMJD3), a specific demethylase induced in itself upon LPS treatment. Removal of the trimethylation H3K27 occurs during cellular

differentiation ⁹, demonstrating that macrophage activation has some landscapes similar to differentiation. The dynamics that allow the transcription of significant in macrophage polarized genes recognized that their loci phenotypes exist in three broad states, characterized by the variation of the "histone code". Firstly, the chromatin is inaccessible, characterized by the presence of negative marks, such as H3K9me3 and H3K27me3. Then, the chromatin is partial open ("poised" state) characterized by the presence of activating histone marks, occupancy of gene repressors such as BCL6 (B cell leukemia 6), some cases there is a prebound RNA polymerase II (pol II) close to TSS. However the transcription is controlled by concurrent presence of repressive histone marks such as H3K9me3 and H3K27me3, co-repressor complexes. Finally, an open chromatin configuration characterized by active histone marks, and ongoing transcription ¹⁰. In addition, on other important histone modifications, is the nucleosome remodeling by the ATP-dependent complex BAF (also termed SWI/SNF), which facilitates recruitment of transcription factors such as NF-kB, and release of paused pol II ¹¹

Chromatin conformation in M2 macrophage activation

Macrophages are activated by TLR ligands or TNF in transient manner followed by a state of tolerance ¹². Epigenetic mechanisms that regulate activation toward tolerance need to be further clarified, however it is known that tolerized genes display reduced chromatin accessibility, followed by and diminished recruitment of transcription factors such as p65. On the contrary, non-tolerized genes maintain an open chromatin state.

Alternative activated macrophage responses are mediated by histone demethylase JMJD3, which promotes expression of the key M2 transcription factor, IRF4 ¹³. Different studies have highlighted the important role of JMJD3, which is induced IL-4 in a STAT6-dependent manner ¹⁴, in alternative activation with ChIP and ChIP-seq analysis. JMJD3 is also express by TLR-inducible in macrophages *via* an NF-κB-dependent pathway. Since H3K27 trimethylation is implicated in the silencing of gene expression, by regulating a set of genes such as Bmp2 and Hox ¹⁵. Has been revealed JMJD3 is dispensable for M1, in

contrast is essential for M2 macrophage. Indeed the expression of the M2 marker genes encoding Arg1, Ym1, Fizz1, MR and IL-13 was impaired in JMJD3 deficient mice ¹³.

The Junk RNA and the immunity system

The central dogma of the biology formulated by Crick in 1958 ¹⁶, which says that DNA is transcribed into messenger RNAs (mRNAs), followed by protein translation, is multifaceted. Only 2% of the human genome encodes for proteins, while a broadly 90% of the genome is being actively transcribed, producing the previously known "junk RNA" The discovery of this "junk RNA", nowadays named non-coding RNA (ncRNA) transcripts, has opened a novel perspective on the RNA centrality in gene regulation; it is evident that mRNA transcription does not inevitably lead to protein translation. Some of the ncRNAs are associated with mRNA splicing (small nuclear RNAs; snRNAs) and translational machinery, such as ribosomal RNA, transfer RNA, RNase P, SRP-7S. One of the most abundant class of ncRNAs are microRNA that regulate gene expression in a post-transcriptional way ¹⁷. Nowadays a particular class of ncRNA are established, long non-coding RNAs, lncRNAs which are greater than 200bp.

MicroRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) which are small ncRNAs capable of silencing target mRNA expression through the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), causing mRNA decay or translation inhibition ¹⁷. Evidence of their function are arising, even though less is known about their own regulation and expression activity. Recently, evidence for post-transcriptional control of miRNA activity has been accumulating ^{18,19}. In contrast to the initially thought of a linear and universal miRNA processing pathway, multiple discoveries led to the recognition of miRNA-specific differences that open a plethora of regulatory process.

Transcriptional regulation

Generally, miRNAs are transcribed in primary transcript (pri-miRNA, containing a cap as well as a poly-A tail) is generated by RNA polymerase II or III. Both RNA polymerases are differently regulated and recognize specific promoter and terminator elements. For instance selected miRNAs are controlled by transcription factors, such as c-Myc or p53 ^{20,21} or depends on the methylation of their promoter ²²; clearly the miRNA transcription control is not an universal step .

Pri-miRNA editing

Primary transcript editing is as a post-transcriptional change of RNA sequences by deamination of adenosine (A) to inosine (I), altering the base pairing and structural properties of the transcript, influencing the further processing as well as the target recognition abilities. A-I editing is mediated by ADAR (adenosine deaminases acting on RNA) 1 and 2 and was described for miR-22, miR-223 and miR-99a ^{23,24}.

Pri-miRNA processed by DroshaDGCR8

The obtained primary transcript is processed in the nucleus by the Microprocessor, a complex composed by Drosha (a RNase III endonuclease) and the cofactor, DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 (DGCR8/Pasha), into a precursor-miRNA (pre-miRNA) of ~70-100 nucleotides. Pasha contains two double-stranded RNA-binding domains and is essential for miRNA processing. Indeed a single nucleotide polymorphism in a miRNA precursor stem can block Drosha processing (e.g. miR-125a) ²⁵. In addition, primary transcripts are processed co-transcriptionally by Drosha and this process precedes splicing of the protein-encoding or non-coding host RNA that contains the miRNAs ²⁶.

In mammalian there are accessory proteins associated with Drosha, which includes the DEAD-box helicases p68 (DDX5) and p72 (DDX17) DEAD box helicases P68 and P72 and the heterogeneous nuclear RNA complex (hnRNP) proteins ²⁷. These RNA helicases (p72 and p68) facilitate Drosha processing of a subset of pri-miRNAs ²⁸. Another way to influence the pri-miRNA processing is through the interaction of p68/p72 with other proteins. For instance p68 with SMAD protein, which facilitates the processing of pri-miR-21, or p53 associated with p68 enhancing the process of miR-16-1, miR-143, and miR-145, in response to DNA damage ^{29,30}. The p68/p72 complex is also used to decrease the processing a restrict number of miRNA (miR-16, miR-125a, miR-143, miR-145, and miR-195) upon stimulation of estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) ³¹. (Figure 2. 2)

Intronic microRNA precursors bypass Drosha

An alternative pathway for miRNA biogenesis without Drosha-mediated cleavage is used by "mirtrons" that are intron-derived microRNAs. miRNAs are released from their host transcripts by the action of the splicing machinery and lariat-debranching enzyme, which yield pre-miRNA-like hairpins ³².



Figure 2. 2 Regulation of pri-miRNA processing The microprocessor complex Drosha–DGCR8 cleaves the pri-miRNA, releasing the pre-miRNA. (b) Some miRNAs require additional specificity factors (for example p68 and p72) for efficient cleavage. (c) Interaction of pri-miR-18a with hnRNP A1 facilitates cleavage of this specific miRNA by Drosha. (d) TGF-beta signaling induces SMAD binding to the miR-21 precursor and enhances its efficient processing by Drosha. (e) Splicing can replace Drosha processing if the released and debranched intron (mirtron) has the length and hairpin structure of a pre-miRNA.

Exportin-5–Ran-GTP mediates pre-miRNA export

After the nuclear processing the obtained pre-miRNA is recognized by the Exportin-5 (XPO5) and exported with Ran-GTP in the cytosol ³³. Exportin-5 protects also pre-miRNAs

from digestion recognizes them independently of the sequence or the loop structure, however the length of the double-stranded stem and presence of 3' overhangs are important for proper recognition of pre-miRNAs ³³⁻³⁵.

microRNA processing in the cytosol

In the cytosol, the pre-miRNA is cleaved in a double-stranded RNA duplex (approximately 22 nt) by RNase III endonuclease, DICER, by the binding with PAZ domain to the 3' overhang of the precursor-miRNA ³⁶. This interaction allows the pre-miRNA recognition and correct processing. Deletion of Dicer decreases or abrogates

the production of mature miRNAs ³⁷. The resulted duplex RNA is incorporated into the miRNA-induced silencing complex (miRISC), which includes the Argonoute proteins (Ago 1-4). Ago proteins regulate miRNA abundance post-transcriptionally, and loss of endogenous Ago2 diminishes the expression and activity of mature miRNAs ³⁸. In the miRISC one strand of the duplex is selected (the guide strand), while the opposite strand (miRNA*) is eliminated. The guide strand, bound to the GW182 family members in miRISC, regulates target miRNAs, in processing bodies (P-bodies) ^{27,39}. Recently has been shown that Ago2 is phosphorylated by p38 MAP kinase under cellular stress conditions, abetting its localization to P-bodies ⁴⁰. Ago2 pool has been identified at the nucleus by the RAN-GTP shuttle protein Importin-8 (Imp8), which is also required for miRNA-guided cytoplasmic regulation of a subset of mRNAs⁴¹. The re-import of miRNAs into the nucleus is particularly relevant because growing evidences that miRNAs regulate gene expression in the nucleus at the transcriptional level (e.g. miR-373 targets the promoter of E-cadherin) ^{42,43}.

LncRNAs

DNA microarray technology revealed that the genome encodes at least as many lncRNAs as the known protein coding genes ⁴⁴. Currently, lncRNAs are defined as RNA larger than 200 bp devoid of coding potential.

XIST and H19, were discovered in the 1980s and 1990s accidentally by searching cDNA libraries for clones of interest (24, 25). However, the 21st century, with the advent of the human genome project and the technology progression (e.g. RNA sequencing; RNA-Seq), allows the identification of novel ncRNA species. LncRNAs were considered as "junk" RNA and now their functional roles remained mostly elusive and debated⁴⁵ ⁴⁶. It is observed to be key regulators at transcriptional and translational levels, effecting cell identify and function ⁴⁷. In addition many lncRNAs are restrained in sub-nuclear compartments ^{48,49}, suggesting that such lncRNAs may be involved in a potential function in the located compartment.

lncRNA in gene regulation

In general, lncRNAs exert their function by regulating gene expression driving the formation of ribonucleic protein complexes. This connection was elucidated in 1975 by Paul & Duerksen, how found that biochemically purified chromatin contained twice as much RNA as DNA, raising the idea that RNA may influence chromatin structure and gene regulation ⁵⁰. LncRNAs orchestrate genetic regulatory outcomes, participate in chromosome dosage compensation, imprinting and other process (XIST, H19, and AIR) . (2; 6).

Xist is associated with chromatin regulation occurs during X chromosome dosage compensation in mammals (Figure 2. 3B). Importantly, this lncRNAs physically interacts with the Polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2), causing the PRC2 and H3K27me3 localization to the inactive X chromosome ⁵¹. This type of regulation is indicated as *cis-*, meaning that lncRNAs contribute to local control of gene expression by recruiting histone

modification complexes to specific areas of the genome. Another silencing lncRNA is the metastasis-associated in lung adenocarcinoma transcript, MALAT1. Studies have shown that MALAT-1 regulates alternative splicing by interacting with the SR (serine/arginine) rich family that regulates alternative splicing ⁵². Contrariwise, lncRNAs can recruit PRC2 and regulate distantly located genes throughout the genome; *trans*-regulation. One of these RNA is HOTAIR was the first of such RNAs recognized. HOTAIR physically associates with the PRC2 and modulates of hundreds of sites throughout the genome ⁵³. (Figure 2. 3C).



Figure 2. 3 LncRNAs in gene regulation. **A**, **B** cis-regulation of gene expression results in local control of genes neighboring, or on the same chromosome. For instance XIST transcription facilitates inactivation of an individual X chromosome in female by recruiting the Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2). **C**, **D** lncRNA trans regulation that results in control of genomically-distant genes. For instance HOTAIR is transcribed from the HoxC cluster on chromosome 12 but represses the HoxD locus via PRC2-mediated epigenetic modifications .

Enhancer- associated lncRNA

Even though several lncRNA mediate gene silencing, some lncRNA function as enhancers of transcription. Genome-scale mapping of histone modifications and enhancer binding proteins have identified associated lncRNAs. This class of lncRNA called enhancer RNAs (eRNAs) are bidirectional, lacking polyA tail, and having very low copy number ⁵⁴. Moreover are marked by a H3K4me1 histone signature denoting enhancer regions (21), rather than the H3K4me3/H3K36me3 signature classically associated with lncRNAs. They have important functional roles ⁵⁵ beyond to be simple byproduct of transcription in enhancer regions.

Recently a novel class of lncRNA has been identified, the translational regulatory lncRNA (trlncRNA). They are up-regulated in paired clinical breast cancer primary and lymphnode metastasis samples ⁵⁶.

Long non-coding RNAs in immunity

Recent evidences have revealed functional roles for long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) in the regulation of inflammatory mediator or cytokine expression. Many lncRNAs were found to be dynamically regulated in macrophages under TLR ligand *via* the Myd88-NF- κ B pathway. One of these is the long intergenic non-coding RNA (lincRNA)-Cox2, was found to act as a master regulator of gene expression. In Pam3CSK4 treatment of BMDMs, silencing of lincRNA-Cox2 induced up-regulation of Ccl5, but down-regulation of Il-6. These results suggest that lincRNA-Cox2 mediates both activation and repression of immune responses ⁵⁷. Moreover, the TLR4 pathway up-regulates lnc-IL7R, a lncRNA that overlaps the 3'-UTR of the human interleukin-7 receptor α -subunit (IL7R). This lncRNA negatively regulates E-selectin, VCAM-1, IL-8, and IL-6 expression following LPS stimulation ⁵⁸.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 2. 4 IncRNAs in innate immunity. Figure from Carpenter et al., 2014

Lethe, a pseudo gene lncRNA of Rps15a, is selectively induced *via* NF-κB or glucocorticoid receptor agonist, and interacts with NF-κB subunit RelA to inhibit RelA DNA binding and target gene activation ⁵⁹. Finally, a lincRNA THRIL is induced by TNF in human monocytes through its interactions with HNRNPL130. Overalls, these studies emphasize the importance of lncRNAs in regulating gene expression in macrophages and highlight yet another layer of complexity in gene regulation (Figure 2. 4). Further analysis of their molecular functions could provide important insights into gene regulation, inflammation and human diseases.

AIM OF THE STUDY

It has become clear that chromatin landscape plays an important role in macrophage polarization and function, and determines the magnitude and specificity of the macrophage transcriptome. Exploration of epigenetic regulation of macrophage polarization and function is outstanding to explore with the additional epigenetic mechanisms, such as the role of noncoding RNA.

We have shown that macrophage are characterized by distinct miRNome in steady state and in activated phenotype. We have identified a novel miRNA induced downstream TLR4 signaling pathway, miR-135b which enforces the classic activation phenotype and damps the alternative one. Although miR-135b results as a hinge microRNA in macrophage polarization. Understanding whether miR-135b locus is accessible and activated in macrophage upon stimulation could open on other way to stabilize a macrophage phenotype in itself. Although, the aim of this study was to gain insight the epigenetic landscape that rules miR-135b expression in classic activated macrophages.

RESULTS

hsa-miR-135b is transcribed from within the intronic sequence of a long non-coding RNA, BLACAT1

Human miR-135b mapped on the negative strand of human chromosome 1 (chr1q32.1) in the intron of BLACAT1 (bladder cancer associated transcript 1; Figure 2. 5A) which was near LEMD1 (the murine host gene of miR-135b). Thus BLACAT1 was not interspecies conserved, and it was identified by Wang He and colleagues as a novel lncRNA associated with polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) with a pro-oncogenic activity in bladder cancer and in gastric cancer ^{60,61}. We sought to define whether both RNAs are cotranscribed in classic activated macrophages by qPCR.

We evaluated the kinetic of BLACAT1 and miR-135b in M1-activated macrophages compared with the expression of miR-155 and its host gene and lncRNA, MIR155HG. As presented in Figure 2. 5 BLACT-1, is expressed in early hours while is down-regulated at 24h, while LPS induced miR-135b at 24h; the same kinetics occurs for miR-155 and its host gene, which is known to be co-expressed. Based on these results we supposed that miR-135b and its host gene are co-transcribed and they could share the same promoter.



Figure 2. 5 hsa-miR-135b is transcribed from within the intronic sequence of BLACAT1. A, human macrophages were triggered with LPS (100ng/ml) at 2, 6 and 24h and BLACT1 and mature miR-135b were analyzed by qPCR. **B**, human macrophages were triggered with LPS (100ng/ml) at 2, 6 and 24h and MIR155HG and mature miR-155 were analyzed by qPCR. n =3; mean ± SEM. *p<0.05, **p<0.01; ****p < 0.0001 compared with resting macrophages.

miR-135b TSS identification

To clarify the relation between BLACAT1 and miR-135b we evaluated the locus chromatin landscape. Firstly, with an *in silico* approach using Human Epigenome Browser (http://epigenomegateway.wustl.edu/; Figure 2. 6). We found that miR-135b/BLACAT1 locus was extremely variable in all the selected cell lines (lung fibroblast, breast epithelia cells, colon smooth muscle cells, pancreatic cells, K562 and monocytes) in spite of miR-155 locus, which had a conserved active promoter shared between miR-155 and its host gene MIR155HG (Figure 2.6A). The enhancer/promote of miR-135b was not defined an active enhancer was designated proximal to BLACAT1 exon 2. To address the miR-135b transcriptional star site (TSS) we performed an *in silico* analysis of miR-135b genome sequence upstream 10 kb, using ProScan v.1.7. This analysis revealed two TSS located respectively at ~1kb and ~8kb from pre-miR-135b. Both putative regions conserved binding sites for TATA boxes and some transcription factors, such as NF-kB. We performed 5'-rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) to address the miR-135b TSS. We obtained a PCR product of about 1350 bp, overlapping the putative region proximal to miR-135b.


Figure 2. 6 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus. A, Genomic heatmap of cell line datasets covering BLACAT1 genomic region (upper panel) and MIR155HG (has-miR-155 host gene) displaying the chromatin state (e.g. Active promoter; red, enhancer; yellow and polycomb repression; grey), using Human Epigenome Browser and ProScan v.1.7. **B**, 5'RACE mapping of intronic miR-135b novel TSS.**C**, genomic organization of the miR-135b/BLACAT-1 locus with the putative TSS.

Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus upon LPS treatment

We sought to address the miR-135b chromatin status in macrophages resting and activated. We performed ChIP analysis in resting and activated macrophages triggered with LPS for 2h. Therefore, we analyzed the "histone code" on the putative enhancer region proximal to the exon1 of BLACAT1 (E1), the putative enhancer region close to miR-135b TSS (E2), and the regulatory element active in monocyte (E3). We evaluated H3K4me3 (green), H3K27ac (blue); H3K27me3 (red) and for Polycomb 2 (SUZ12; cream, and EZH2; pink; Figure 2. 7). The ChIP analysis shown that pre-miR-135b region (E2) was the most active among the others three in both resting (M0) and LPS-induced macrophages (M1). There was an enrichment of PolyComb repressive complex 2 in this region in steady state macrophage, identified by increased occupancy of SUZ12, EZH2 and trymethylated histone H3 in K27, H3K27me3 , which was removed by the inflammatory treatment (Figure 2. 7A). In agreement with these data, there was a striking increase of acetylated histone H3 in K27 (H3K27ac) in M1 compared to M0 with trymethylated H3 lys4 (H3K4me3), confirming an open chromatin configuration (Figure 2.7). The putative enhancer, E3, endured an active state under LPS stimulation; while the putative enhancer region (E1) flanking TSS was not engaged by any of the antibodies exanimated. Overalls, these data show that the proximal pre-miR-135b enhancer is activated by LPS triggered and also the second region nearby the BLACAT1 exon 2 is influenced. On the contrary, MIR155 is characterized by a single promoter region that is engaged by polycomb in steady state macrophage, repression that is completely removed upon LPS triggering (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2. 7 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon LPS treatment. **A**, schematic representation of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus, putative enhancer element (E1/2/3) are marked. Arrows shape show the enhancer region amplified by specific primers in qPCR. amplification of immunoprecipitated chromatin. **B**, CHIP analysis for PolyComb and repressive histone modification, H3K27me3, on the putative enhancer regions in resting and M1 macrophages, **C**, CHIP analysis of the putative enhancer regions in resting and M1 macrophages, using antibodies for active histone modification H3K4me3 and H3K27ac. **D**, schematic representation of MIR155HG/miR-155 locus. Arrows shape show the promoter region amplified by specific primers in qPCR amplification of immunoprecipitated chromatin. **E**, CHIP analysis for PolyComb and H3K27me3, on the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages. **F**, CHIP analysis of the promoter regions in resting and M1 macrophages.

histone modification H3K4me3 and H3K27ac. Results of qPCR are analyzed with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. Values of each immunoprecipitated sample fold enrichment to their respective IgG control. Mean ± SEM (n = 3).

Correlation between host gene BLACAT1 and miR-135b in activated macrophages

The correlation between miR-135b and BLACAT1 is still an open question, to further address this issue we measured BLACAT1 and miR-135b levels in classical and alternative activated macrophages. As shown in Figure 2. 8A, there was no association with miR-135b and BLACAT-1 expression in macrophages stimulated with pro-inflammatory stimuli for 24h (LPS, IL-1 β , IL-6, Pam3CSK4 and TNF α) with a Pearson correlation index of R =0,38. Again, the Figure 2.8 B shows no correlation between the lncRNA and miR-135b in alternative activated macrophages (R= 0,43) caused by the IL-10 triggered, which down-regulates miR-135b (as we have identified in Figure 1. 13), while BLACAT1 was induced. In addition, stimulation with glucocorticoids (dexamethasone; DEX) promoted the lncRNA expression and down regulated miR-135b (Figure 2. 8B), suggesting a novel inhibitory effect promoted by dexamethasone on the "inflammatory" miR-135b.



Figure 2. 8 Expression of host gene BLACAT1 and mature hsa-miR-135b. A, human macrophages were cultured for 24h with 100 ng/ml IL-1 β , 20 ng/ml IL-6, 1 µg/ml Pam3CSK4, 20 ng/ml TNF α ,100 ng/ml LPS **B**, macrophages were treated for 24h with 50 ng/ml TGF- β , 50 ng/ml IL-10, 10⁻⁶ M dexamethasone (DEX) and 20ng/ml IL-4. RNA was extracted and BLACAT (grey bar) and mature miR-135b (black bar) ware analyzed by qPCR. n =3; mean ± SEM. *p<0.05, ****p < 0.0001 compared with resting macrophages.

miR-135b is inhibited by glucocorticoids

In order to determine whether glucocorticoids have negative effect on miR-135 as well as on miR-155 during the TLR4-mediated macrophage inflammatory response ⁶², we analyzed miR-135b levels in human macrophages; we pretreated the cells with a synthetic glucocorticoid, dexamethasone (Dex; 10⁻⁶ M) for 1 h and then we stimulated them with LPS (100ng/ml) for 24 h. As expected, Dex blocks the NF- κ B pathway, reduced the expression and the secretion of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-12p40 (Figure 2. 9A-B). We further investigate with the same sample miR-155, miR-146b, and miR-135b expression levels. The three miRNAs were induced downstream of TLR4 pathway, and were significantly down-regulated by the combined action of dexamethasone and LPS. This profound miRNAs inhibition was well highlighted in time dependent manner (Figure 2. 9 D), while BLACAT1 is up-regulated by dexamethasone treatment, being unaffected by LPS (Figure 2. 9E). Overalls these data display that glucocorticoids inhibit miR-135b expression, revealing an imbalance expression between the microRNA and its host gene, BLACAT-1 that is significantly induced by glucocorticoids .



Figure 2. 9 Dexamethasone regulates miR-135b. Human macrophages were primed with Dex (10⁻⁶ M) and treated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24h **A-B**, TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-12p40 expression and protein levels were measured with qRT-PCR and ELISA respectively. Mean ± SEM (n=3). **C**, miR-155, miR-146a and miR-135b expression levels in qRT-PCR, data were normalized to the endogenous control U6. Mean ± SEM, n=3. **D**, miR-155, miR-146a and miR-135b expression levels in qRT-PCR in time course. **E**, BLACAT1 expression level, Mean ± SEM, n=3 *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p<0.001.

IncRNA BLACAT1 blocks miR-135b in DEX-activated macrophages

BLACAT1/linc-UBC1 is a nuclear LncRNA, which physically interacts with PolyComb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) mediating a transcription regulation ⁶¹. Thus, we sought to determine whether BLACT1 was able to regulate the expression of miR-135b upon dexamethasone treatment. We measured the expression level of miR-135b in macrophages upon dexamethasone (24h) after silenced BLACAT1 with LNA[™] longRNA GapmeR (lna-BLACAT1). As illustrated in Figure 2. 10, the expression of miR-135b is completely restored after the inhibition of the LncRNA in dose response manner. These data suggest that BLACT1 has a regulatory role on miR-135b, with a epigenetic control.



Figure 2. 10 IncRNA BLACAT1 blocks miR-135b in DEX-activated macrophages. Human macrophages were transient transfected with LNATM longRNA GapmeR of BLACAT1 at 100 and 200 pmole. After 24h the cells were treated with Dex (10⁻⁶ M) and BLACAT1 (**A**) and miR-135b (**B**) levels were evaluated qRT-PCR. Mean ± SEM (n=3). **p < 0.01.

Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon DEX treatment.

To further investigate the miR-135b inhibition promoted by BLACAT1 upon glucocorticoids. We evaluated in ChIP assay the chromatin occupancy in human macrophages stimulated with glucocorticoids after 2h, supposing a repressed chromatin at the active enhancer E2.



Figure 2. 11 Epigenetic modifications of BLACAT1/miR-135b enhancer region upon DEX treatment. A, schematic representation of BLACAT1/miR-135b locus, putative enhancer element (E1/2/3) are marked. Arrows shape show the enhancer region amplified by specific primers in qPCR. amplification of immunoprecipitated chromatin. B, CHIP analysis for PolyComb and repressive histone modification, H3K27me3, on the putative enhancer regions in DEX-induced macrophages. C, CHIP analysis of the putative enhancer regions in DEX-induced macrophages, using antibodies for active histone modification H3K4me3 and H3K27ac. Results of qPCR are analyzed with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. Values of each immunoprecipitated sample fold enrichment to their respective IgG control. Mean ± SEM (n = 3) D, miR-135b relative expression levels in resting and activated macrophages treated 24h with 200 nM GSK 343 (EZH2 synthetic inhibitor) or control

(DMSO). Mean \pm SEM (n = 3), * p<0.05 ** p<0.01. **E**, representative immunoblotting of nuclear extracts from resting macrophages treated 24h with 200 nM GSK343 or DMSO.

Surprisingly, dexamethasone did not entail the recruitment of the PolyComb repressive complex 2 (SUZ12 and EZH2) on the pre-miR-135b enhancer (E2) as illustrated in Figure 2. 11. On the contrary, upon dexamethasone stimulation the main enhancer was highly engaged by the active histone modification H3K4me3 and H3K27ac (Figure 2. 11C). As shown in Figure 2. 11D, resting and classical activated macrophages treated with GSK 343, an EZH2 inhibitor, expressed high levels of miR-135b, while Dex-induced macrophages were not influenced by GSK 343, stressing that the locus was not repressed by PRC 2.

Glucocorticoids inhibit miR-135b processing through MCPIP1

To address the glucocorticoids regulation on miR-135b, we speculate a posttranscriptional regulatory event. We measured the levels of pri-miRNA, pre-miRNA and mature miR-135b upon dexamethasone and LPS stimulation, as control. The Figure 2. 12 displayed how dexamethasone up-regulated pri-miR135b with a remarkable accumulation of the transcript at the late hours (24 and 48h) in spite of LPS stimulation whereby pri-miRNA was induced at the early hours and following repressed. Dexamethasone induces likewise BLACAT1, however, the pri-miR-135b augmentation was not translated in mature miRNA (Figure 2. 12C); on the contrary, glucocorticoids repressed pre-miR-135b expression (Figure 2. 12**Errore. L'origine riferimento non è stata trovata.**B). Overall, dexamethasone blocks the miR-135b processing, probably in concert with lncRNA BLACAT1 accumulation.



Figure 2. 12 Dex inhibits miR-135b processing. Human macrophages were cultured for the indicated times in medium alone or in the presence of 100 ng/ml LPS or dexamethasone (DEX 10 ⁻⁶ M) Total RNA was extracted and pri-miR-135b (**A**), pre- (**B**) and mature miR-135b (**C**) expression was assessed by RT-qPCR and normalized to the snRNU6 levels. The results are expressed as fold change respect to resting macrophages (mean ± SEM; n= 3). * p<0.05 ** p<0.01, **** p<0.0001

Hiroshi I Suzuki and colleagues identified MCP-induced protein 1 (MCPIP1) as an immune regulator ribonuclease which suppresses miR-135b biosynthesis in cancer ⁶³. Furthermore, MCPIP1 expression dynamically changes during inflammation and has been shown to promote the mRNA decay of several inflammatory genes such as IL-6 ⁶⁴. We examined the potential involvement of MCPIP1 in the regulation of miR-135b in Dex-

induced macrophages, lacking the LncRNA. We silenced, in *vitro*, BLACAT1 in human macrophages using LNATM longRNA GapmeR and subsequently treated the cells with dexamethasone or LPS measuring MCP1PI expression.



Figure 2. 13 MCPIP1 expression is impaired by BLACAT1 inhibition. Human macrophages were transient transfected with LNA[™] longRNA GapmeR of BLACAT1 at 200 pmole. After 24h the cells were treated with Dex (10 ⁻⁶ M) and BLACAT1 and MCPIP1 mRNA (**A**) and IL-6 (**B**) levels were evaluated qRT-PCR. Mean ± SEM (n=3). *p<0.05; ***p < 0.001.

In accordance with our previous results the lack of BLACAT1 further suppressed MCPIP1 expression (Figure 2. 13A), with a followed IL-6 mRNA induction (Figure 2. 13 B). These data emphasize that miR-135b expression is compromised by the presence of MCPIP1 stabilized by BLACAT1; upon dexamethasone treatment. An open question that remains is how BLACAT1 impacts on MCPIP1 expression.

BLACAT1 role in resolving macrophages

Confirmed the negative interplay between miR-135b and BLACAT1, we sought to investigate the impact of BLACAT1 on pro-resolving macrophages. We silenced the lncRNA with LNA[™] longRNA GapmeR upon dexamethasone stimulation and we

analyzed some pro- and anti-inflammatory markers. BLACAT1 reduction in DEX-treated macrophages impacts on the expression of CCL5 (Figure 2. 14 E) and again IL-6 (Figure 2. 14 H), but the M2 marker genes TGF- β (Figure 2. 14 I), IL-10 (Figure 2. 14 L) were induced by the lack of BLACT1 at 2h.While the other analyzed genes were not influenced by the lncRNA silencing. The interesting subject emerged by these data is that BLACAT1 regulates M2 genes mapped on the same chromosome, chr1. Further investigation are needed to clarify the activity of this lncRNA.



Figure 2. 14 BLACAT1 dependent genes. Human macrophages were transient transfected with LNA[™] longRNA GapmeR of BLACAT1 at 200 pmole. After 24h the cells were treated with Dex (10 ⁻⁶ M) and indicated genes levels were evaluated qRT-PCR. Mean ± SEM (n=3). *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p < 0.001 ****p<0.0001 t-test.

DISCUSSION

It is becoming largely accepted that the "junk" RNAs are relevant and attract interest. We have point out the activated macrophage miRNome, in particular the role of miR-135b in damping the alternative phenotype. For its implication and verified role we have analyzed the chromatin occupancy on miR-135b. The in silico analyses shown that the miRNA reside in the intron region of BLACAT1. The majority of intronic microRNAs reported to play an antagonistic or synergetic role as an enemy or a partner of their host genes 65. So we sought to define the relation between BLACAT1 and miR-135b. Firstly, we revealed that BLACAT1/miR-135b locus is extremely complex in terms of transcriptional control and cell specificity. As highlighted in public CHIP-seq data merged with ProScan v.1.7 output, there is an evidence of three putative enhancer regions on the locus. We identified the miR-135b TSS with 5'RACE at about 1kb distance, located on the enhancer shared by both miR-135b and BLACAT1. Indeed, ChIP experiments, for different markers of chromatin activity, indicate a well-defined landscape in this specific region. We revealed that LPS treatment leads to miR-135b up-regulation causing a chromatin opening conformation on the enhancer region, with an enrichment of H3K4me3 and H3K27ac; discharging PolyComb 2. These results are in agreement with our previous findings, indicating miR-135b as a novel M1 associated microRNAs.

Furthermore, exploring the BLACAT1 and miR-135b relation, we remarkably identified a different types of responses for both RNAs upon LPS or anti-inflammatory stimuli such as glucocorticoids and IL-10. In particular, the lncRNA, BLACAT1 is highly induced in macrophages treated with dexamethasone (synthetic GCs) and IL-10, while mature miR-135b was found to be down-regulated. Supposing a chromatin repression on the miR-135b enhancer upon glucocorticoids, we performed a Chip analysis to evaluate the EZH2 and SUZ12 occupancy. In support to this speculation, BLACAT1 is associated with repressor complex polycomb 2 acting as molecular scaffold ⁶¹.

Surprisingly, we found that GCs treatment induced an open chromatin, which is not translate with mature miR-135b. Therefore PRC2 is not engaged in this locus with the help of BLACAT1, this aspect in agreement with the *trans*-acting of BLACAT1. Overalls miR-

135b/BLACAT1 transcriptional landscape highlights an antagonistic role with the RNAs. Furthermore, we highlighted that glucocorticoids inhibited the biogenesis of miR-135b, finely though the accumulation of the pri-miRNA. We speculate that BLACAT1 promotes this upon dexamethasone treatment. We found that inhibition of BLACAT1 leads to the over-expression of miR-135b, in concert with the inhibition of MCPIP1. MCPIP1 (MCPinduced protein 1) is an immune regulator ribonuclease which suppresses miR-135b biosynthesis antagonizing DICER⁶³ in cancer. We confirmed MCPIP1 and miR-135b anticorrelation also in pro-resolving macrophages.

In summary, in the present study, we discovered that miR-135b and its host gene, BLACAT1 are under control of the same enhancer proximal to pre-miR-135b. However there is a stormy relation between the two noncoding RNAs, in particular upon anti-inflammatory stimuli, such as glucocorticoids. BLACAT1 is extremely up-regulated in this condition, whereas miR-135b processing is block whit a following lack of the mature form. This is ascribable to MCPIP1 expression that is inhibited by the absence of the lncRNA. These data strongly suggest that the expression of miR-135b is closely associated with its lncRNA, BLACAT1. Open questions remain regarding how MCPIP1 and BLACAT1 interact to influence the miR-135b pathway. Moreover BLACAT1 inhibition cause up-regulation of CCL5, IL-6, TGF- β and, IL-10 upon GC treatment, with a possible chromatin *trans*-regulation. For these propose further analysis are required.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents.

E. coli lipopolysaccharide (LPS, 055:B5 strain) was purchased from Sigma, IL-10 from R&D System and Dexamethasone was acquired from Sigma-Aldrich. GSK 343, a EZH2 inhibitor was purchased from Sigma.

Macrophage generation and polarization.

Human monocytes were isolated from healthy donor buffy coats by two step gradient centrifugation using Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare) and Percoll (Amersham), as described in the precedent chapter. Resting macrophages were then polarized to M1 macrophages using 100 ng/ml LPS or M2-like macrophages using 10-6 M dexamethasone for indicated time . Resting macrophages (M0) were left untreated in culture medium.

miRNA isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR Analyses.

Total RNA and small RNAs faction were isolated by TRIzol (Ambion) and reverse transcribed. qPCR for has-miR-135b (Cat: 002261), has-miR-155 (Cat: 002623), has-miR-146a (Cat: 000468), U6 snRNA (Cat: 001973) were performed in CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). Relative miRNAs expressions were determined by using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method ⁶⁶, normalizing the levels with U6 snRNA.

RNA isolation and gene expression analysis.

Total RNA was purified and reverse transcribed to manufacturer's guidelines. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using specific oligonucleotides which are reported in Table 2. 1. in a CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). Results were analyzed with CFX software, and relative expression values were calculated according to $\Delta\Delta$ cycle threshold method normalized using GAPDH as housekeeping.

Table 2. 1 Real time PCR primers

Genes	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
ALOX15	CTTGCTCTGACCACACCAGA	GCTGGGGCCAAACTATATGA
CCL18	GAGGCCAGGAGTTGTGAGTT	CATGGTGCAGACGAGGACAA
CCL5	TATTCCTCGGACACCACACC	ACACACTTGGCGGTTCTTTC
CD206	GGGCAGTGAAAGCTTATGGA	CCTGTCAGGTATGTTTGCTCA
COX2	CCCTTGGGTGTCAAAGGTAA	GCCCTCGCTTATGATCTGTC
CXCL10	AGCCAATTTTGTCCACGTGT	TGATGGCCTTCGATTCTGGA
CXCL9	TGAGAAAGGGTCGCTGTTCC	TCAAACTGCTTGGCTCACCA
GAPDH	GATCATCAGCAATGCCTCCT	TGTGGTCATGAGTCCTTCCA
IL-10	AGAACCTGAAGACCCTCAGGC	CCACGGCCTTGCTCTTGTT
CD209	GGCAGAAGTGTGGGTAGACAG	AGGGCTAGGTCCCAAAAGAC
CD226	GCCCGAAAATAAGCCGACTG	TGCTCCTTTATGAGGATGGGC
TGF-β	GGGCTACCATGCCAACTTCT	GACACAGAGATCCGCAGTCC
IL-6	TGCGATGGAGTCAGAGGAAA	ACTAGGGGGAAAAGTGCAGC
MCPIP1	GTCTGACGGGATCGTGGTTT	TCAGGGGGGCATAAACTTGTCA

Macrophage Transfection.

Purified macrophages were cultured in medium supplemented with 2 mM glutamine and 10% FCS. Were transfected with indicated concentration of BLACAT1 LNA[™] longRNA GapmeR (Exiqon), using TransIT-TKO Transfection Reagent (Mirus Bio), according to the manufacturer's protocol.

ChIP analysis

Sheared chromatin from 5 × 10⁶ human macrophages was immunoprecipitated overnight (ON) at 4 °C with 10 µg of the following antibodies: α H3K27me3 (Merck-Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA; cat: 07-449); α H3K4me3 (Merck-Millipore; cat: 07-473); non-specific rabbit IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc, Dallas, TX, USA; cat: sc-2027); α Ezh2 (Merck-Millipore; cat: 17-662); α SUZ12 (Merck-Millipore; cat: 07-472); α H3K27ac (Merck-Millipore; cat: 07-473);non-specific mouse IgG (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc; cat: sc-2025). Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) was performed in triplicate by using -specific primers (TableS1). Signals obtained from the ChIP samples were normalized on signals obtained from input sample . Results were expressed as fold enrichment relative to untreated cells.

Immunoblots.

Protein were extracted from macrophages as previously described, by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis. Then were transferred to nitrocellulose (Hybond; GE Healthcare). Blotted membranes were stained for MCPIP1 and β -ACTIN using a concentration of 1:200 overnight. The labeled primary Abs using a secondary Abs conjugated to HRP, which was detected using ECL reagent.

In silico analysis

Evolutionary sequence conservation was examined using the UCSC Genome Browser track (<u>http://genome.ucsc.edu/</u>) and ECR browser (<u>http://ecrbrowser.dcode.org</u>). Identification of transcription factor–binding sites was performed using Genomatix suite programs Mat Inspector (http://www.genomatix.de), and Transfac matrix Database (v.7.0) track on UCSC Genome Browser.

Rapid Amplification of cDNA Ends (5'-Race)

5'-RACE PCR was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen).

RNA was prepared from a pool of human macrophages by ligating the RNA with a 5' RACE adapter and a single-stranded cDNA was generated. For nested PCR specific primers were chosen to obtain a sufficient amplification product. Primers were designed using Primer3 software, and BLAST (Table 2). Amplified products were separated on an agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide staining.

ChIP Assay.

Sheared chromatin from 5 × 10⁶ macrophages was immunoprecipitated overnight (ON) at 4 °C by using polyclonal antibodies against polymerase II (N-20; sc-899; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), H3 (ab1791; Abcam), H3K27ac (ab4729; Abcam), H3K4me1 (39297; Active Motif), H3K27me3 (07-449; Millipore-Upstate). Signals obtained from the ChIP samples were normalized on control IgG (12-370; Millipore-Upstate) in quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), performed in triplicate by using specific primers (Table).

Statistical analysis.

Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and statistical significance was based on non-parametric t-test or non-parametric ANOVA followed by post hoc Bonferroni's test performed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software).

REFERENCES

- 1 Zhou, V. W., Goren, A. & Bernstein, B. E. Charting histone modifications and the functional organization of mammalian genomes. *Nature reviews. Genetics* **12**, 7-18, doi:10.1038/nrg2905 (2011).
- 2 Natoli, G. Maintaining cell identity through global control of genomic organization. *Immunity* **33**, 12-24, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.07.006 (2010).
- 3 Ernst, J. *et al.* Mapping and analysis of chromatin state dynamics in nine human cell types. *Nature* **473**, 43-49, doi:10.1038/nature09906 (2011).
- 4 Stender, J. D. & Glass, C. K. Epigenomic control of the innate immune response. *Current opinion in pharmacology* **13**, 582-587, doi:10.1016/j.coph.2013.06.002 (2013).
- 5 Ghisletti, S. *et al.* Identification and characterization of enhancers controlling the inflammatory gene expression program in macrophages. *Immunity* **32**, 317-328, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.02.008 (2010).
- 6 Fiedler, K. & Brunner, C. The role of transcription factors in the guidance of granulopoiesis. *American journal of blood research* **2**, 57-65 (2012).
- 7 Lee, K. K. & Workman, J. L. Histone acetyltransferase complexes: one size doesn't fit all. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* **8**, 284-295, doi:10.1038/nrm2145 (2007).
- 8 Wei, G. *et al.* Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* **30**, 155-167, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.009 (2009).
- 9 Bernstein, B. E. *et al.* A bivalent chromatin structure marks key developmental genes in embryonic stem cells. *Cell* **125**, 315-326, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.041 (2006).
- 10 Natoli, G., Ghisletti, S. & Barozzi, I. The genomic landscapes of inflammation. *Genes & development* **25**, 101-106, doi:10.1101/gad.2018811 (2011).
- 11 Hargreaves, D. C., Horng, T. & Medzhitov, R. Control of inducible gene expression by signal-dependent transcriptional elongation. *Cell* **138**, 129-145, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.047 (2009).
- 12 Ivashkiv, L. B. Inflammatory signaling in macrophages: transitions from acute to tolerant and alternative activation states. *European journal of immunology* **41**, 2477-2481, doi:10.1002/eji.201141783 (2011).
- 13 Satoh, T. *et al.* The Jmjd3-Irf4 axis regulates M2 macrophage polarization and host responses against helminth infection. *Nature immunology* **11**, 936-944, doi:10.1038/ni.1920 (2010).
- 14 Ishii, M. *et al.* Epigenetic regulation of the alternatively activated macrophage phenotype. *Blood* **114**, 3244-3254, doi:10.1182/blood-2009-04-217620 (2009).
- 15 De Santa, F. *et al.* The histone H3 lysine-27 demethylase Jmjd3 links inflammation to inhibition of polycomb-mediated gene silencing. *Cell* **130**, 1083-1094, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.019 (2007).
- 16 Crick, F. H. On protein synthesis. *Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology* **12**, 138-163 (1958).
- 17 Bartel, D. P. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* **116**, 281-297 (2004).
- 18 Obernosterer, G., Leuschner, P. J., Alenius, M. & Martinez, J. Post-transcriptional regulation of microRNA expression. *RNA* **12**, 1161-1167, doi:10.1261/rna.2322506 (2006).
- 19 Thomson, J. M. *et al.* Extensive post-transcriptional regulation of microRNAs and its implications for cancer. *Genes & development* **20**, 2202-2207, doi:10.1101/gad.1444406 (2006).

- 20 O'Donnell, K. A., Wentzel, E. A., Zeller, K. I., Dang, C. V. & Mendell, J. T. c-Myc-regulated microRNAs modulate E2F1 expression. *Nature* **435**, 839-843, doi:10.1038/nature03677 (2005).
- 21 He, L. *et al.* A microRNA component of the p53 tumour suppressor network. *Nature* **447**, 1130-1134, doi:10.1038/nature05939 (2007).
- 22 Lujambio, A. *et al.* A microRNA DNA methylation signature for human cancer metastasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 13556-13561, doi:10.1073/pnas.0803055105 (2008).
- 23 Luciano, D. J., Mirsky, H., Vendetti, N. J. & Maas, S. RNA editing of a miRNA precursor. *RNA* **10**, 1174-1177, doi:10.1261/rna.7350304 (2004).
- 24 Blow, M. J. *et al.* RNA editing of human microRNAs. *Genome biology* **7**, R27, doi:10.1186/gb-2006-7-4-r27 (2006).
- 25 Duan, R., Pak, C. & Jin, P. Single nucleotide polymorphism associated with mature miR-125a alters the processing of pri-miRNA. *Human molecular genetics* **16**, 1124-1131, doi:10.1093/hmg/ddm062 (2007).
- 26 Morlando, M. *et al.* Primary microRNA transcripts are processed co-transcriptionally. *Nature structural & molecular biology* **15**, 902-909 (2008).
- 27 Gregory, R. I. *et al.* The Microprocessor complex mediates the genesis of microRNAs. *Nature* **432**, 235-240, doi:10.1038/nature03120 (2004).
- 28 Fukuda, T. *et al.* DEAD-box RNA helicase subunits of the Drosha complex are required for processing of rRNA and a subset of microRNAs. *Nature cell biology* **9**, 604-611, doi:10.1038/ncb1577 (2007).
- 29 Davis, B. N., Hilyard, A. C., Lagna, G. & Hata, A. SMAD proteins control DROSHA-mediated microRNA maturation. *Nature* **454**, 56-61, doi:10.1038/nature07086 (2008).
- 30 Suzuki, H. I. *et al.* Modulation of microRNA processing by p53. *Nature* **460**, 529-533, doi:10.1038/nature08199 (2009).
- 31 Yamagata, K. *et al.* Maturation of microRNA is hormonally regulated by a nuclear receptor. *Molecular cell* **36**, 340-347, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2009.08.017 (2009).
- 32 Ruby, J. G., Jan, C. H. & Bartel, D. P. Intronic microRNA precursors that bypass Drosha processing. *Nature* **448**, 83-86, doi:10.1038/nature05983 (2007).
- 33 Yi, R., Qin, Y., Macara, I. G. & Cullen, B. R. Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of premicroRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. *Genes & development* **17**, 3011-3016, doi:10.1101/gad.1158803 (2003).
- Lund, E., Guttinger, S., Calado, A., Dahlberg, J. E. & Kutay, U. Nuclear export of microRNA precursors. *Science* **303**, 95-98, doi:10.1126/science.1090599 (2004).
- 35 Zeng, Y. & Cullen, B. R. Structural requirements for pre-microRNA binding and nuclear export by Exportin 5. *Nucleic acids research* **32**, 4776-4785, doi:10.1093/nar/gkh824 (2004).
- 36 Gregory, R. I. & Shiekhattar, R. MicroRNA biogenesis and cancer. *Cancer research* **65**, 3509-3512, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0298 (2005).
- 37 Hutvagner, G. *et al.* A cellular function for the RNA-interference enzyme Dicer in the maturation of the let-7 small temporal RNA. *Science* **293**, 834-838, doi:10.1126/science.1062961 (2001).
- 38 Diederichs, S. & Haber, D. A. Dual role for argonautes in microRNA processing and posttranscriptional regulation of microRNA expression. *Cell* **131**, 1097-1108, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.032 (2007).
- 39 Sen, G. L. & Blau, H. M. Argonaute 2/RISC resides in sites of mammalian mRNA decay known as cytoplasmic bodies. *Nature cell biology* **7**, 633-636, doi:10.1038/ncb1265 (2005).

- 40 Zeng, Y., Sankala, H., Zhang, X. & Graves, P. R. Phosphorylation of Argonaute 2 at serine-387 facilitates its localization to processing bodies. *The Biochemical journal* **413**, 429-436, doi:10.1042/BJ20080599 (2008).
- 41 Weinmann, L. *et al.* Importin 8 is a gene silencing factor that targets argonaute proteins to distinct mRNAs. *Cell* **136**, 496-507, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.023 (2009).
- 42 Place, R. F., Li, L. C., Pookot, D., Noonan, E. J. & Dahiya, R. MicroRNA-373 induces expression of genes with complementary promoter sequences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 1608-1613, doi:10.1073/pnas.0707594105 (2008).
- 43 Kim, D. H., Saetrom, P., Snove, O., Jr. & Rossi, J. J. MicroRNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in mammalian cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **105**, 16230-16235, doi:10.1073/pnas.0808830105 (2008).
- 44 Bertone, P. *et al.* Global identification of human transcribed sequences with genome tiling arrays. *Science* **306**, 2242-2246, doi:10.1126/science.1103388 (2004).
- 45 Clark, M. B. *et al.* The reality of pervasive transcription. *PLoS biology* **9**, e1000625; discussion e1001102, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000625 (2011).
- 46 Ponjavic, J., Ponting, C. P. & Lunter, G. Functionality or transcriptional noise? Evidence for selection within long noncoding RNAs. *Genome research* **17**, 556-565, doi:10.1101/gr.6036807 (2007).
- 47 Chen, L. L. & Carmichael, G. G. Decoding the function of nuclear long non-coding RNAs. *Current opinion in cell biology* **22**, 357-364, doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2010.03.003 (2010).
- 48 Kapranov, P. *et al.* The majority of total nuclear-encoded non-ribosomal RNA in a human cell is 'dark matter' un-annotated RNA. *BMC biology* **8**, 149, doi:10.1186/1741-7007-8-149 (2010).
- 49 Mao, Y. S., Sunwoo, H., Zhang, B. & Spector, D. L. Direct visualization of the cotranscriptional assembly of a nuclear body by noncoding RNAs. *Nature cell biology* **13**, 95-101, doi:10.1038/ncb2140 (2011).
- 50 Paul, J. & Duerksen, J. D. Chromatin-associated RNA content of heterochromatin and euchromatin. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* **9**, 9-16 (1975).
- 51 Zhao, J., Sun, B. K., Erwin, J. A., Song, J. J. & Lee, J. T. Polycomb proteins targeted by a short repeat RNA to the mouse X chromosome. *Science* **322**, 750-756, doi:10.1126/science.1163045 (2008).
- 52 Tripathi, V. *et al.* The nuclear-retained noncoding RNA MALAT1 regulates alternative splicing by modulating SR splicing factor phosphorylation. *Molecular cell* **39**, 925-938, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.08.011 (2010).
- 53 Rinn, J. L. *et al.* Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell* **129**, 1311-1323, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.022 (2007).
- 54 De Santa, F. *et al.* A large fraction of extragenic RNA pol II transcription sites overlap enhancers. *PLoS biology* **8**, e1000384, doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000384 (2010).
- 55 Orom, U. A. *et al.* Long noncoding RNAs with enhancer-like function in human cells. *Cell* **143**, 46-58, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.001 (2010).
- 56 Gumireddy, K. *et al.* Identification of a long non-coding RNA-associated RNP complex regulating metastasis at the translational step. *The EMBO journal* **32**, 2672-2684, doi:10.1038/emboj.2013.188 (2013).
- 57 Carpenter, S. *et al.* A long noncoding RNA mediates both activation and repression of immune response genes. *Science* **341**, 789-792, doi:10.1126/science.1240925 (2013).
- 58 Cui, H. *et al.* The human long noncoding RNA lnc-IL7R regulates the inflammatory response. *European journal of immunology* **44**, 2085-2095, doi:10.1002/eji.201344126 (2014).
- 59 Rapicavoli, N. A. *et al.* A mammalian pseudogene lncRNA at the interface of inflammation and anti-inflammatory therapeutics. *eLife* **2**, e00762, doi:10.7554/eLife.00762 (2013).

- 60 Hu, Y., Pan, J., Wang, Y., Li, L. & Huang, Y. Long noncoding RNA linc-UBC1 is negative prognostic factor and exhibits tumor pro-oncogenic activity in gastric cancer. *International journal of clinical and experimental pathology* **8**, 594-600 (2015).
- 61 He, W. *et al.* linc-UBC1 physically associates with polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) and acts as a negative prognostic factor for lymph node metastasis and survival in bladder cancer. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1832**, 1528-1537, doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.010 (2013).
- 62 Zheng, Y. *et al.* Glucocorticoids inhibit lipopolysaccharide-mediated inflammatory response by downregulating microRNA-155: a novel anti-inflammation mechanism. *Free radical biology & medicine* **52**, 1307-1317, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.01.031 (2012).
- 63 Suzuki, H. I. *et al.* MCPIP1 ribonuclease antagonizes dicer and terminates microRNA biogenesis through precursor microRNA degradation. *Molecular cell* **44**, 424-436, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.09.012 (2011).
- 64 Matsushita, K. *et al.* Zc3h12a is an RNase essential for controlling immune responses by regulating mRNA decay. *Nature* **458**, 1185-1190, doi:10.1038/nature07924 (2009).
- 65 Gao, X., Qiao, Y., Han, D., Zhang, Y. & Ma, N. Enemy or partner: relationship between intronic micrornas and their host genes. *IUBMB life* **64**, 835-840, doi:10.1002/iub.1079 (2012).
- 66 Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25**, 402-408, doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262 (2001).

Chapter: MicroRNA-135b in gouty arthritis

This work has been done in collaboration with **Nathália Vieira Batista** PhD student of Immunopharmacology, Department of Biochemistry and Immunology, Institute of Biological Sciences, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

List of figures

Figure 3. 1 NLRP3 inflammasome activation
Figure 3. 2 Interleukine-1β pathway100
Figure 3. 3 Deregulated miRNome up MSU-gout model103
Figure 3. 4 miR-135 is overexpressed in synovial fluid and periritonial macropahges from
mice treated with monosodium urate (MSU) crystals
Figure 3. 5 of MSU-induced inflammatory response kinetics (in vitro)
Figure 3. 6 Monosodium urate (MSU) crystals induce miR-135b expression in BMDM 107
Figure 3. 7 miRNA-135b expression is regulated by IL-1R1 during Gout arthritis 108
Figure 3. 8 miR-135b direct targets in IL-1β pathway110
Figure 3. 9 miR-135b inhibits MyD88, IL-1RAP and IL-6 expression 111
Figure 3. 10 Enhancer expression of miR-135b inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-
inflammation;
Figure 3. 11 Enforced miR-135b levels inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-inflammation.

INTRODUCTION

Gout pathogenesis

Gout is an arthritis caused by deposition of monosodium urate (MSU) crystals within joints and periarticular tissues after chronic hyperuricaemia. This pathology affects 1-2% of adult population being the first cause of arthritis in western countries ¹. In acute gouty arthritis, macrophages phagocyte MSU activating NLRP3 inflammasome thru the priming with TLR2/4. The activated NLRP3 leads to caspase-1, which in turn cleaves pro-IL-1 β to produce active IL-1 β . IL-1 β is the master cytokine produced by MSU stimulation. Its secretion induce the production of other pro-inflammatory mediators, including, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-8 (IL-8) and interleukin-6 (IL-6).

Inflammasome

The inflammasome is a cytosolic protein complex, which includes an intracellular sensor (typically a Nod-like receptor, NLR), the procaspase-1 and the adaptor molecule ASC. Inflammasome activation mediates the production and secretion of interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) and IL-18 via caspase-1. The inflammasome belonging to the NLR family include NLRP1, NLRC4 and NLRP3. The NLRP3 (NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3) inflammasome is the most well characterized of the family ones. Its activation required two steps, firstly the "priming" stimulus, provided through activation of a TLRs (e.g. with LPS via TLR4, triggering the NF κ B) ². This priming step induces the up-regulation of NLRP3, pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18. After, NLRP3 is activated and caused the maturation of caspase-1, which cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 to mature and releasable IL-1 β and IL-18 ³. Gain-of-function mutations in NLRP3 cause a higher production of IL-1 β even in non-stimulated cells (Figure 3. 1).



Figure 3. 1 NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Activation of caspase-1 via NLRP3 requires two signals. Signal 1 is represented by microbial molecules or endogenous cytokines and is required for the upregulation of NLRP3 and pro-IL-1 β . Signal 2 activates the NLRP3 inflammasome. Activation by S. aureus, S. pyogenes, and S. pneumoniae and V. cholerae is mediated by pore-forming toxins. Other bacterial toxins can also induce the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, such as cholera toxin (CT) or C. difficile toxins TcdA and TcdB (not shown here); C. albicans induces activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome through the kinase Syk, although the mechanism involved is unclear. Influenza virus can induce the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, but it is controversial whether this is due to a pore-forming activity mediated by M protein or to sensing of viral RNA species in the cytosol. Cytosolic bacterial RNA induces activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. TNFR, receptor for tumor-necrosis factor. (From: Franchi, Muñoz-Planillo & Núñez, 2012)

Interleukine-1β pathway

II-1 β is a pivotal inflammatory cytokine involved in cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis ⁴ It is a member of the interleukin-1 family: IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-1 receptor antagonist, IL-18, IL-33 and IL-F.

IL-1 β binds to IL-1 receptor type 1 expressed by a wide variety of cells is shared with IL-1 α . IL-1R1 signals through the binding with IL-1R accessory protein (IL-1RAP) that recruits the cytosolic MyD88 all the way to Nf- κ B activation. Pro-IL-1 β is cleaved by the caspase-1, but can also be cleaved in caspase-1 independent process ⁵. However its production and release depends on the cell types, monocytes in vitro present constitutively activated caspase-1, therefore they do not need a second hit to release IL-1 β . Macrophages instead need the two signals ⁶. IL-1 β mediates pro-inflammatory effects by promote the expression of IL-6 and CSF, also induces increased expression of adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 and VCAM-1⁷ (Figure 3. 2).



Figure 3. 2 Interleukine-1β pathway

miRNAs and gout

miRNAs are evolutionarily-conserved endogenous non-coding RNAs in involved in many diseases, including gouty arthritis ⁸. Hyperuricaemia is a major risk factor of gout, currently has been shown that miR-34a and miR- 448 are involved in the production of uric acid ^{9,10}. Moreover, miRNAs could influenced the gout arthritis though the regulation of TLR2 and TLR4 on the macrophages (e.g. miR-155, miR-146 and miR-21) ¹¹.

The NLRP3 inflammasome is a central regulator in the inflammatory process, leading the production of IL-1 β . Activity that is reduced by the direct miR-223 targeting ¹². IL-1 β is also central in the regulation of immune and inflammatory responses. However, there is no miRNA identified to target IL-1 β from current literature.

AIM OF THE STUDY

Gout is an autoinflammatory disorder associated with deposition of MSU crystals in joints and periarticular tissues. In acute gouty arthritis, macrophages phagocyte MSU activating NLRP3 inflammasome thru the priming with TLR2/4. The activated NLRP3 leads to caspase-1, which in turn cleaves pro-IL-1 β to produce active IL-1 β . Although, IL-1 β is the master cytokine produced by MSU stimulation. Its secretion induce the production of other pro-inflammatory mediators, including, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-8 (IL-8) and interleukin-6 (IL-6).

In our previously study we have proved the importance of miRNAs in macrophage activation and polarization increasing this landscape. Pointing out miRNA profile is an essential step towards discover novel miRNA functions in this thinly regulates process. Different studies tried to evaluate this issue however is emerged an uneven scenery due to species specific and the use of different protocols of macrophage polarization ¹³. To further understand miRNAs implication on this pathology, to settle the base for an effective treatment, we sought to typify the miRNome of murine miRNAs in all the phases of gout arthritis. And to define its relevance in the inflammation progression.

RESULTS

miRNome expression in the in vivo MSU-crystal model

We performed this study to determine whether miRNAs contribute to the progression of particle-induced synovitis, a model broadly use to analyses the implication of the inflammasome and IL-1 β signaling pathway. Wild type mice were injected with MSU crystals (100 µg/knee joint), 380 miRNAs were profiled with TaqMan miRNA Arrays on total RNA from periarticular tissue after 3, 6, 15 and 24 hours from MSU injection. A restrict number of miRNAs (~30) was significantly up-regulated in the late time point, 6h as it is shown in Figure 3. 3 as shades of red in the heatmap. While another limited miRNAs group (~19) was induced at 3h from the MSU injection followed by a down-regulation (green shades).



Figure 3. 3 Deregulated miRNome up MSU-gout model. A, Differentially expressed miRNAs (p < 0.05) were analyzed by hierarchical clustering of the log₂ value of each miRNA at 3, 6, 15 and 24h after MSU intra-articular injection . Red: up-regulation; green: down-regulation; black: no change.

B, miRNAs that are up-regulated by the MSU treatment The legend on the right displays the microRNA represented in the corresponding row.

Interestingly, miR-135b is among the 30 miRNAs highly expressed, followed by others miRNAs such as miR-223, miR-155 and miR-135a (Figure 3.4). miR-135b was induced at 6 hours and followed repressed. MSU crystals promoted miR-223 and miR-135a expression in this *in vivo* experiment. These modulations were in line with the climax of acute inflammation in this model ¹⁴. However, it was imperative to describe which cells were in charge in this arthritis model. To address this issue we treated mice with MSU crystals (100 µg/knee joint) and after 12 hours neutrophils and macrophages were isolated from synovial fluid, and we measured miR-135b expression (Figure 3. 4B). MSU triggered both cell types caused the induction of miR-135b, which was mainly produced by macrophages. Overalls, we defined a restrict miRNA signature in the model of MSU-induced arthritis which followed the disease progression. We observed miR-135b (M1-associated miRNA which we identified) expressed by periarticular tissue after MSU injection, suggesting a possible role in the gout progression.



Figure 3. 4 miR-135 is overexpressed in synovial fluid and periritonial macropahges from mice treated with monosodium urate (MSU) crystals. **A**, single taqman assay qPCR was perfermed to define the expression of miR-135b and other influmatory microRNAs (miR-135a and miR-223) in vivo experiment. **B**, neutrophils and macrophages where isolated from synovial fluid after MSU

injection, miR-135b expression levels were measuerd. Results are representative of nine independent experiments. Data are shown as the mean \pm SEM.

MSU crystals induce miR-135b expression in BMDM

In order to further address miR-135b levels *in vitro* model of MSU-induced gout, we treated the primary BMDM with MSU (150 μ g/ml) after LPS (10ng/ml) priming for 15 hours and we measured mRNA levels and protein secretion of IL-1 β , IL-6 and CXCL1 (the major actors of the MSU-inflammation; Figure 3. 5) at 3, 6 and 15 h. We analyzed mature miR-135b and miR-155 levels (as negative control) in these sample and in BMDM triggered with LPS (100ng/ml) at 6 and 15 hours. As highlighted in Figure 3.6 A, miR-135b was up-regulated by LPS and priming +MSU stimulation, at the contrary, miR-155 induction was caused only by LPS triggering (Figure 3. 6B).



Figure 3. 5 of MSU-induced inflammatory response kinetics (*in vitro***).** BMDM were primed with LPS (10ng/ml) for 15h and treated with MSU crystals (150 μ g/ml), inducing the expression of pro-inflammatory (**A-E**) and the secretion of inflammatory chemokines (**F-I**) at 3, 6, 15, and 24 hours after MSU treatment. Results are express as mean ± SEM n=3. * = P < 0.01 against resting macrophages



Figure 3. 6 Monosodium urate (MSU) crystals induce miR-135b expression in BMDM. A, mmmiR-135b expression levels in murine macrophages were primed with LPS (10ng/ml) for 15h and treated with MSU crystals (150µg/ml), or treated with LPS (100ng/ml) at 6 and 15h. **B,** expression levels of miR-155. Bar are mean ± SEM. n=4 **p<0.01,****p<0.0001.

miRNA-135b expression is regulated by IL-1R1 during Gout arthritis (in vitro)

MSU-induced gout has been shown to be dependent on the activation of the IL-1R1 pathway ¹⁵. We found that MSU effects on miR-135b in BMDM were synergized by IL-1 β , and demonstrated that MSU-crystal-induction was directly promoted by IL-1 β and its signaling pathway. We treated BMDM isolated from IL-1R1 knockout mice and C57BL/6 wild-type with MSU crystals after 15h of LPS priming, for 6 and 15h. miR-135b in IL-1R1 KO was down-regulated in all the tested conditions were it was shown to be induced. While, MSU alone had no effect both in wild type and in IL-1R1 knockout (Figure 3. 7B). IL-1R1 wild-type mice shown nearby to 4-fold induction, which was lower than the fold induction observed in MSU in vitro model. The absence of IL-1R1 leaded to a significant reduction of miR-135b at 6 and 15 hours (Figure 3. 7). Overall, miR-135b expression in MSU-induced gout is conditioned by IL-1R1 signaling.


Figure 3. 7 miRNA-135b expression is regulated by IL-1R1 during Gout arthritis. BMDM obtained by C57BL/6 wild-type or IL-1R1 KO were or treated with IL-1 β (A), or primed with LPS (10ng/ml) for 15h and treated with MSU crystals (150 μ g/ml) (B) or with MSU alone (C). Results are expressed as fold change against resting macrophages. mean ± SEM. n=4 *p<0.05, ***p<0.001; ****p<0.0001.

miR-135b putative regulates IL-1R signaling pathway

Although, we shown that IL-1R1, the mayor signaling pathway involved in gout arthritis, regulated miR-135b expression; however its mode of action and role remained to be We TargetScan www.targetscan.org) elucidated. used (version 4.2, DIANA (http://www.microrna.gr/microT-CDS) and miRanda (http://microrna.org) prediction algorithm, obtaining a list of putative targets, which were analyzed with Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) and merged with IL-1R pathway signal. Importantly, we identified TOLLP, IL-1R1 and IL-1RAP as putative target in mouse, while MYD88 and IL-1β were found just in human, however miR-135b seed is extremely conserved between murine and human. To define miR-135b binding region on murine MYD88 and IL-1β we used RNA hybrid algorithm with a cut off of 19 kcal/mol.

We tested whether miR-135b could directly repress its putative mRNA targets through 3' UTR interactions. Thus, the full- or partial-length 3' UTRs of the murine genes IL-1β (target used as positive control¹⁶), IL-1R1, IL-RAP and MYD88 were cloned into a reporter vector (psiCHECK2), downstream of firefly luciferase. The plasmid was co-transfected with control and miR-135b mimic in NIH/3T3 cells. IL-RAP 3'UTR showed a reduction to 40 % of total luciferase reporter activity, in presence of miR-135b, which is completely

restored when the seed is mutated. The same result for MYD88 and the control IL-1R1 (Figure 3. 8 A-C). While IL-1 β 3'UTR did not display any significant reduction of luciferase levels, if compared with the control (Figure 3. 8 D). These results support the hypothesis that miR-135b exerts a negative feedback control on the IL-1 signaling pathway in the late phase MSU inflammation.



Figure 3. 8 miR-135b direct targets in IL-1 β pathway, NIH/3T3 cells were transiently cotransfected with indicated 3'-UTR luciferase construct (the seed sequence or RNA hybrid outcomes are placed nearby) of IL-1RAP (A), MyD88 (B), IL-1R1 (C) and IL-1 β (D) and with miR-135b mimic or a negative control mimic (scr). Results are expressed as normalized relative luciferase units (RLU). n=4 ; mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 compared with control

To further investigate if this interaction we transfected resting cells with control mimics or mimics for miR-135b, 15 hours later they were stimulated with IL-1 β (20ng/ml). As shown in Figure 3. 9 A-C, enhancer expression of miR-135b inhibited the target mRNAs, MYD88, IL-RAP and IL-6, while the silencing of miR-135b causes a faint induction of those genes. These data highlighted the negative role of miR-135b on the pathway of IL-1 β .



Figure 3. 9 miR-135b inhibits MyD88, IL-1RAP and IL-6 expression. Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or miR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with IL-1 β for 24h. Levels of MyD88 (**A**), IL-1RAP (**B**) and IL-6 (**C**) were determined. n=3; mean ± SEM; *p<0.05; ** p<0.01 compare to control (scr). Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or antagomiR-135b for 24h, then cells were treated with IL-1 β for 24h. Levels of MyD88 (**D**), IL-1RAP (**E**) and IL-6 (**F**) were determined. n=3; mean ± SEM.

Enhancer expression of miR-135b inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-inflammation

To define miR-135b role on MSU- induced inflammation, we transfected MSU treated macrophages with control or miR-135b mimic for 3, 6 and 15 hours. Figure 3. 10 shown how miR-135b was able to reduce gene expression of MYD88 and IL-1RAP, while IL-1 β mRNA expression was unchanged (Figure 3. 10D). MiR-135b influenced drastically the

cytokine IL-6 mRNA expression (Figure 3. 10C) and had a negative impact also on the secretion of the major pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 β , TNF α and KC, Figure 3. 11 (A-D). However, the lack of miR-135b had no influence on secretion of the same protein (Figure 3. 10 E-H).



Figure 3. 10 Enhancer expression of miR-135b inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-inflammation. Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or miR-135b for 24h, and then cells were treated with MSU. Total RNA was collected at different time point and MyD88 (**A**), IL-1RAP (**B**), IL-6 (**C**) and IL-1 β expression levels were determined. n=3; mean ± SEM;



Figure 3. 11 Enforced miR-135b levels inhibits MSU crystal-induced pro-inflammation. A-D, Resting macrophages were transfected with 20nM of control (scr) or miR-135b for 24h, and then cells were treated with MSU. Supernatant of each sample was collected at different time point and IL-1β, TNF- α , KC, IL-6 secretion was evaluated. Macrophages were transfected with scr and antago-miR-135b and IL-1β, TNF- α , KC, IL-6 secretion was evaluated (**E-H**). n=3; mean ± SEM;

DISCUSSION

Gout is an autoinflammatory disorder associated with deposition of MSU crystals in joints and periarticular tissues. Innate immunity cells, in particular macrophage, are mainly involved in its progression. We performed a low-density TaqMan-based array on periarticular tissue from mice injected with MSU crystals for 3,6,15 and 24h. Our results showed that out of MSU crystals induced miRNAs there is increased levels of miR-135b, which we found to be essential in the retention of a pro-inflammatory phenotype. We found that it is induced by inflammatory stimuli, LPS in human macrophages. Its expression is influenced by exposure to nanoparticles cigarette smoke ¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Surprisingly, we found that its expression was closely associated with IL-1R1 pathway. Indeed its impaired expression is due to the lack of IL-1R1.

Due to the expression kinetic that miR-135b has in both MSU-induced model and IL-1 β treated macrophages, which is highly expressed in the late hour and immediately inhibited in the followed. We speculate a negative regulatory effect of miR-135b in the progression of gouty arthritis and IL-1 β pathway. Although, we explore the putative targeting of miR-135b in the IL-1 β pathway, we confirmed a direct interaction between miR-135b and MyD88 and IL-1RAP in the present study. The targets expression was gradually decreased by MSU crystals stimulation in late hours; stressing the anticorrelation with miR-135b. In addition, enhancing miR-135b expression in murine macrophage reduces the target mRNAs and proteins. Moreover, our data highlight that miR-135b has an impact not only on IL-1 β pathway, but also contributes with the outcome of the MSU stimulation.

Overalls, in this study we examined the role of miRNAs in MSU gouty arthritis. We have identified miR-135b up-regulated *in vivo* model. The inflammatory phenotype of the acute gouty arthritis *in vitro* shown the induction of miR-135b in macrophages. These data emphasize the role of miR-135b that modulates inflammation in acute gout. Once again,

expression that is in turn negative modulated in function of its kinetics. This landscape could be due to the induction of MICP1 upon IL-1 β treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents.

LPS from *Escherichia coli* serotype 055:B5 and Uric acid were purchased from Sigma. Murine IL-1 β was purchased from R&D Systems.

MSU crystal-induced gout

MSU crystals were prepared under pyrogen-free conditions by dissolving 5 mg/ml uric acid (Sigma-Aldrich) in 0.01M NaOH (pH 7.1) solution. The supersaturated uric acid solution was filtered (0.45 μ m) and maintained at room temperature for 48 hours. Crystals were washed with 100% ethanol and sonicated to decrease their size.

Mice were given an intra-articular injection of 100 μ g of MSU crystals and killed after 0, 6, and 15 hours. The knee cavity was washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and the number of leukocytes was determined. Periarticular tissues were used for evaluation of cytokines and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity. Total leukocytes were determined in a Neubauer chamber after staining with Turk's solution. Differential cell counts were determined using standard morphologic criteria and were performed on May-Grünwald-Giemsa–stained slides.

Purification of Murine Macrophages.

Mouse macrophages, obtained from 6- to 8-wk C57BL/6 wild type or IL-1R1 KO were plated in six-well plates at a density of 1 to 2 × 105 /cm2 . Femora and tibiae of hind legs were flushed with PBS solution and cells were re-suspended in IMDM medium with L-glutamine, 10% (vol/vol) FCS, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 mg/mL of streptomycin and cultured for 7 d with 10 ng/mL macrophage colony-stimulating factor (MCSF). Macrophages were detached using PBS solution containing 10 mM EDTA, washed, and resuspended in IMDM medium supplemented with, 10% heat inactivated FCS, 100 U/mL of penicillin, and 100 mg/mL of streptomycin.

miRNA isolation and Quantitative RT-PCR Analyses.

Total RNA enriched with small RNAs faction was isolated by TRIzol (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each sample, two independent reverse transcription reactions were performed as followed, using TaqMan miRNA assay (Applied Biosystems). Briefly 10 ng of total RNAs were reverse transcribed with individual stem-loop RT-primers for has-miR-135b (Cat: 002222), has-miR-155 (Cat: 000391), has-miR-146a (Cat: 002246), mmu-miR-155 (Cat: 000391), U6 (Cat: 001973) and snoR-302 (Cat:). Following, 1 ng of each individually synthesized cDNA in 10 μ L of final reaction, was used in the qPCR assay with specific TaqMan probes. Real-time PCR was conducted in CFX ConnectTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). Relative miRNAs expressions were determined by using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method ¹⁹, normalizing the levels with U6 or snRNA302.

RNA isolation and gene expression analysis.

Total RNA was purified using TRIzol (Ambion) according to the manufacturer's instructions, and reverse transcribed. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using specific oligonucleotides which are reported in Table 1. Sybr Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) was used in a CFX Connect[™] Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad).

Genes	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
MyD88	GCCCGAAAATAAGCCGACTG	TGCTCCTTTATGAGGATGGGC
IL-1β	TGCCACCTTTTGACAGTGAT	AAGGTCCACGGGAAAGACA
	G	С
IL-6	TGCGATGGAGTCAGAGGAA	ACTAGGGGGAAAAGTGCAGC
	А	
TNF-α	GATCATCAGCAATGCCTCCT	TGTGGTCATGAGTCCTTCCA
IL-1RAP	GAGACAAAAGACCTGAAGCA	TGCGGCCGCTAAACTATGGAACT

Table 3. 1 Primers used for qPCR

Luciferase Reporter Assay.

NIH/3T3 cells were plated in 24-well plates in 500 μ L of D-MEM medium, supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% of L-glutamine at 16 × 10⁴ per well. After 24 h, cells were transfected with 100 ng psiCHECK-2–3'UTR reporter construct and 10pmole of mimic-miR-135b or

scramble control (mirVana[™], Ambion Applied Biosystems) by using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). After 48 h from the transfection, cells were lysed, and luciferase activity of both firefly and renilla, were determined by using the DualGlo Luciferase Assay System (Promega). The enzymatic activities were measured by using a MultiDetection Microplate Reader Synergy 2 luminometer (BioTek). The values of renilla luciferase activity were normalized and were expressed as fold changes relative to the value of the negative control.

Gene	primer sequence (5'-3')
IL-1B for	CCGCTCGAGCGGCGGAAGAGCAGACAGCCAAC
IL-1B rev	CCGCTCGAGCGGGGAAGAGCAGACAGCCAACC
IL-1R for	ATAAGAATGCGGCCGCTAAACTACTGTGCTGGTGCTTCTTCTG
IL-1R rev	CCGCTCGAGCGGTTTGACAGGAGGAACCCAGT
IL-1RAP for	ATAAGAATGCGGCCGCTAAACTAACCAGGAGAAGTCGCAGGAA
IL-1RAP rev	ATAAGAATGCGGCCGCTAAACTACCTTTGCCTTTGATTGA
MyD88 for	ATAAGAATGCGGCCGCTAAACTAACTACGGTTTTAGATCTGCT
MyD88 rev	CCGCTCGAGCGGTGGACAAAAGTGGGGTGCCT

Table 3. 2 primers for luciferese construct

Macrophage Transfection.

Purified macrophages were cultured in medium supplemented with 2 mM glutamine and 10% FCS. Were transfected with 10pmole of miRNA mimic (Ambion,Applied Biosystems), or with miRNA-inhibitor (Exiqon), using TransIT-TKO Transfection Reagent (Mirus Bio), according to the manufacturer's protocol. After 24 hours, were stimulated as indicated.

ELISA assay.

Antibodies and detection reagents for ELISA assays were purchased from R&D Systems and used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were diluted so that the optical density fell within the optimal portion of a log standard curve.

Statistical analysis.

Results are expressed as mean ± SEM and statistical significance was based on nonparametric t-test or non-parametric ANOVA followed by post hoc Bonferroni's test performed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software).

REFERENCES

- 1 Dalbeth, N. & Stamp, L. Hyperuricaemia and gout: time for a new staging system? *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* **73**, 1598-1600, doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205304 (2014).
- 2 Bauernfeind, F. G. *et al.* Cutting edge: NF-kappaB activating pattern recognition and cytokine receptors license NLRP3 inflammasome activation by regulating NLRP3 expression. *J Immunol* **183**, 787-791, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901363 (2009).
- 3 Mayer-Barber, K. D. *et al.* Caspase-1 independent IL-1beta production is critical for host resistance to mycobacterium tuberculosis and does not require TLR signaling in vivo. *J Immunol* **184**, 3326-3330, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904189 (2010).
- 4 Bryant, C. & Fitzgerald, K. A. Molecular mechanisms involved in inflammasome activation. *Trends in cell biology* **19**, 455-464, doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2009.06.002 (2009).
- 5 Guma, M. *et al.* Caspase 1-independent activation of interleukin-1beta in neutrophilpredominant inflammation. *Arthritis and rheumatism* **60**, 3642-3650, doi:10.1002/art.24959 (2009).
- 6 Netea, M. G. *et al.* Differential requirement for the activation of the inflammasome for processing and release of IL-1beta in monocytes and macrophages. *Blood* **113**, 2324-2335, doi:10.1182/blood-2008-03-146720 (2009).
- 7 Dinarello, C. A. The IL-1 family and inflammatory diseases. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology* **20**, S1-13 (2002).
- 8 Alevizos, I. & Illei, G. G. MicroRNAs as biomarkers in rheumatic diseases. *Nature reviews. Rheumatology* **6**, 391-398, doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2010.81 (2010).
- 9 Roddy, E., Mallen, C. D. & Doherty, M. Gout. *BMJ* **347**, f5648, doi:10.1136/bmj.f5648 (2013).
- 10 Knake, C., Stamp, L. & Bahn, A. Molecular mechanism of an adverse drug-drug interaction of allopurinol and furosemide in gout treatment. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* **452**, 157-162, doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.068 (2014).
- 11 Quinn, S. R. & O'Neill, L. A. A trio of microRNAs that control Toll-like receptor signalling. International immunology **23**, 421-425, doi:10.1093/intimm/dxr034 (2011).
- 12 Haneklaus, M. *et al.* Cutting edge: miR-223 and EBV miR-BART15 regulate the NLRP3 inflammasome and IL-1beta production. *J Immunol* **189**, 3795-3799, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200312 (2012).
- 13 He, X., Jing, Z. & Cheng, G. MicroRNAs: new regulators of Toll-like receptor signalling pathways. *BioMed research international* **2014**, 945169, doi:10.1155/2014/945169 (2014).
- 14 Ghosh, S., May, M. J. & Kopp, E. B. NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. *Annual review of immunology* **16**, 225-260, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.16.1.225 (1998).
- 15 Busso, N. & So, A. Mechanisms of inflammation in gout. *Arthritis research & therapy* **12**, 206, doi:10.1186/ar2952 (2010).
- 16 Halappanavar, S. *et al.* IL-1 receptor regulates microRNA-135b expression in a negative feedback mechanism during cigarette smoke-induced inflammation. *J Immunol* **190**, 3679-3686, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202456 (2013).
- 17 Halappanavar, S. *et al.* Pulmonary response to surface-coated nanotitanium dioxide particles includes induction of acute phase response genes, inflammatory cascades, and changes in microRNAs: a toxicogenomic study. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis* **52**, 425-439, doi:10.1002/em.20639 (2011).

- 18 Bourdon, J. A. *et al.* Carbon black nanoparticle intratracheal installation results in large and sustained changes in the expression of miR-135b in mouse lung. *Environmental and molecular mutagenesis* **53**, 462-468, doi:10.1002/em.21706 (2012).
- 19 Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* **25**, 402-408, doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262 (2001).

CONCLUSIONS

Form the central dogma of the biology formulated by Crick in 1958¹, to the detection of "junk RNA", a new prospective has been open. Macrophages are essential cell of the innate immunity system important in onset and resolve inflammation. Moreover they are important in the cross-talk with adaptive immunology. Macrophages may undergo to different phenotype due to the microenvironment. Especially in the course of a chronic inflammation there is an anomalous prolongation/amplification of the macrophage challenge to lead homeostasis. In this landscape favor macrophage activation and reprogramming. The identification of the underlying molecular mechanisms on the base of this process may suggest new approaches to interfere with chronic inflammation and other inflammatory disease, such as cancer. The aim of this presented work was to characterize the epigenetic mechanism involved in macrophage polarization. We have pointed out the impact of miR-135b a de novo expressed miRNA in M1 macrophages, and for the first time associated with macrophages in an inflammatory diseases such as gouty arthritis. Indeed we demonstrated that miR-135b locus is activated by the inflammatory stimulus, LPS, which discharge the repressor complex polycomb2. Although we can classified miR-135 as M1-associated or induced, which damps M2 phenotype in favor of the M1 thru the targeting of important the transcription factor, c-MYC, STAT6 and KLF4, sustaining the inflammation. In addition miR-135b expression is inhibited by the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10, to highlight its pro-inflammatory role. We have shown in the model of gouty arthritis, miR-135b is induced during the progression of the inflammation by macrophages. However it provides a negative feedback to limit excessive macrophage response to MSU crystal, thru the targeting of the IL-1β pathway. These results confirm the relevance of miR-135b as an important hinge of macrophage polarity, flanked by other miRNAs such as miR-155.

At the light of these observations, the identification of the underlying process that regulates the expression of miR-135b will be essential. miR-135b is located in the intron of the lncRNA, BLACAT1. We have glimpsed that the induction of miR-135b and BLACAT1 is not correlated, on the contrary BLACAT1 is induced by anti-inflammatory stimulation,

influencing miR-135b. Although we can speculate a novel type of regulation beyond IL-10, used by the macrophages to control the expression of this miRNA. Probably with the action of the MCP-induced protein 1 (MCPIP1), which is induced downstream LPS and IL-1 β pathway and has been shown to suppress miR-135b biosynthesis in cancer ².

- 1 Crick, F. H. On protein synthesis. *Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology* **12**, 138-163 (1958).
- 2 Suzuki, H. I. *et al.* MCPIP1 ribonuclease antagonizes dicer and terminates microRNA biogenesis through precursor microRNA degradation. *Molecular cell* **44**, 424-436, doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.09.012 (2011).

Acknowledgements

This is the section where I can take my time and pay homage to all those who contributed physically and emotionally to the work exhibited here in doctoral thesis. Those who rejoice and have sometimes grieved with me, during these intense three years.

Then we go with order, my special appreciation and thanks to Prof. Massimo Locati, who gave me the opportunity to work in his laboratory, entrusting a project initially shared with Matt. A project that impressed me with time up to hear part of me. Massimo was a tremendous mentor for me, helped me to increase my critical sense and ask myself the questions due to better channel my "energy" in getting those meaningful answers. A genuine thanks to those silences and those gray moments, which allowed me to "play" in the forefront strengthening my skills.

Thanks to Prof. Bonecchi for her encouragement and for the conversation exchanged in science and not only. Thanks Manu for the scientific comparisons occurring everywhere, and at all unthinkable times for brighter discussions.

A heartfelt thanks goes to my dear Xuxu (Nathàlia) with whom I spent a year in close contact on the counter by growing our project and beyond. Nathalia has endured and allowed me to grow, refine myself, smoothing out those sides of my character a bit "too" sharp.

Thanks also to the members of the group LBL, who showed me a different concept of team allowing me to discover that hidden side of me and rely mostly on my skills.

Thanks to all the people with whom I spent cheery moments in the lab and at the coffee breaks, softening so every failed western blots, and some negative results: Tomay, Marelli, Elisa, Giuly, Bonavita O., Matteo, Diego, Stefano and Floriana. Thank you, without knowing you have often turned up my days.

These were the acknowledgements in work field, if I have omitted someone I apologize. Nonetheless the columns that have allowed me to come up here to lie outside the world Humanitas.

Thanks Mom, you were beside me (Dad would not be able to do better) with your calls and your prayers you were of great help. Thanks my sweet little brother, Teddy, so rational and able to resize all my problems, you're really wise. Thanks Mimmo, with your eyes you've always made it clear that you were close to me. Thanks Dad (I do not know if you are viewing from your "queen" from above) for all the hugs and your Spartan ways to encourage me. I miss them, but I'm giving my best as you always wanted, without exemption.

Thanks to my FamilYous friends, recently found, with your prayers you have contributed to the realization of this thesis.

Thank you Father that you have listened to the wishes and prayers of an 8 year old girl and have led 20 years later to see her dreams realized. Without You none of this could be done or thinkable. Thank You for all those times where the problems seemed too difficult, where those stones seemed mountains. Thanks for tears, for each failure and each times when I wanted to give up. You were next to me and made me realize how much I want to achieve this goal for myself. You transformed the feeble flame in a flaming fire leading me up to this final dissertation and beyond.